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Our vision is to become the undisputed global 
leader in air cargo

Our vision
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our valuesour mission

To secure the profitability of our company by 
providing freight  forwarders with unrivalled 
competitive advantage in their operations 
worldwide

To secure and strengthen the company’s position 
in a growing and changing air cargo market

To add value for customers, shareholders 
and employees

We stand for integrity, tolerance and teamwork

We set ourselves the highest standards and we 
deliver on our promises

We succeed through the quality of our 
relationships

We value every contribution made by our 
employees to securing the profitability of our 
company

We abide by the laws and regulations governing 
our activities

We respect the environment and communities 
within which we operate
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ChairmaN’S LEttER
marC hOFFmaNN CHaiRMan OF tHE BOaRd

Finally, Cargolux benefits from a loyal, dedicated work force: 
the whole organization stands behind the airline and enables 
last minute changes that, unfortunately, have become quite 
frequent lately. the first three months of this year have been 
very difficult and management is implementing drastic cost 
reduction measures which are aimed at also reducing fixed 
costs. 

2. a KEy ECONOmiC playEr iN luxEmbOurg
Cargolux is directly and indirectly responsible for around 5,000 
jobs in a small economy dominated by the financial services 
industry. For instance, Cargolux is the principal customer 
of Luxair Cargo Center, which employs over 1,000 people. 
Luxair is also Luxembourg’s flag carrier and the Luxembourg 
state is its largest shareholder. Cargolux uses mostly Luxem-
bourgish trucking companies. the Government is seeking to 
diversify the economy away from the financial services indus-
try and the development of the logistics/transportation sector 
is a cornerstone of that policy. Cargolux contributed directly 
over EuR 310 million to the Luxembourg economy in 2008.

the continued support of the shareholders of Cargolux must 
be considered in the context of its strategic importance to the 
domestic economy. indirectly, through Luxair in which the 
state now holds a controlling interest, and through the two 
state-owned banks, BCEE and snCi, the Government is very 
present in the share capital of Cargolux. While no one is too big 
to fail these days, some companies - such as Cargolux - are too 
important to fail. therefore i believe that the current sharehol-
ders would undertake the required action to support Cargolux if 
this ultimately became necessary. 

i would like to conclude by asking you – the customers, sup-
pliers, bankers and other financiers of Cargolux – to also conti-
nue to support the Company in and through these difficult 
times. i am sure that Cargolux will always be mindful of your 
support and find ways to show its gratitude for it in the future.

MaRC HOFFMann
Chairman of the Board

the continued support of the shareholders of Cargolux must 
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domestic economy. indirectly, through Luxair in which the 
state now holds a controlling interest, and through the two 
state-owned banks, BCEE and snCi, the Government is very 
present in the share capital of Cargolux. While no one is too big 
to fail these days, some companies - such as Cargolux - are too 
important to fail. therefore i believe that the current sharehol-
ders would undertake the required action to support Cargolux if 
this ultimately became necessary. 

i would like to conclude by asking you – the customers, sup-
pliers, bankers and other financiers of Cargolux – to also conti-
nue to support the Company in and through these difficult 
times. i am sure that Cargolux will always be mindful of your 
support and find ways to show its gratitude for it in the future.

Ladies and Gentlemen, dear Friends of Cargolux,

i have now followed the development of Cargolux for five years, 
first as a director and, since april last year, as Chairman. it has 
been an exciting experience which i have thoroughly enjoyed. 
One of the less pleasant experiences at Cargolux has been my 
active involvement in managing various pending anti-trust pro-
ceedings initiated against the Company. i am pleased to report 
that we recently settled one important case: on 9 april it was 
announced that Cargolux had reached an agreement with the 
us doJ. the us$ 119 million fine imposed on the Company is 
payable in 6 installments over several years. the 2008 ac-
counts include a provision reflecting the present value of those 
annual payments. With the us and other cases settled, or close 
to settlement and/or adequately provisioned for in the Compa-
ny’s accounts, most of this unpleasant overhang seems now to 
be removed and the Company can focus a 100% on managing 
the business.

Our CEO and other members of the Executive Committee will 
comment extensively on how Cargolux performed in 2008 in 
the following pages. Focusing on the recent challenges ahead, 
i want to submit two good reasons why i am confident that Car-
golux will be able to come out of the current crisis stronger.

1. aN ExCEpTiONal pOSiTiONiNg
in these difficult times, Cargolux shows its resilience and out-
performs the competition in the downturn. this is the result 
of entrepreneurial spirit, strong customer relations and flexi-
bility. Over its close to 40 years of existence, Cargolux has 
established special relationships with key customers, the big 
forwarders of this world. 

Cargolux and those customers have grown together and Cargo-
lux’s growth is in part a response to the customers’ expansion. 
these relationships pay off in tough times and we see conti-
nuing customer support across our markets. since the crisis 
started to affect airfreight markets in June 2008, we have 
gained market shares in important markets like Germany, italy 
and across asia - always to the detriment of the home carrier. 
Except for its home base in Luxembourg, Cargolux does not 
have any significant ground infrastructure. therefore, Cargolux 
can quickly open or close on-line stations to respond to market 
conditions. While Cargolux will always be careful to avoid that 
its operational decisions harm its customers, this flexibility is a 
key advantage, in particular in a bear market. 
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1275_CargoLux_RA_10-04-09 début F.indd   8 14/04/09   11:44:34



ENvirONmENT aNd SOCial rESpONSibiliTy
We have added momentum to our commitments with respect 
to corporate social responsibility. in the environmental sphere 
we have begun isO14001 certification in 2008, and i am proud 
to announce that, in a first step, we have been certified for our 
flight operations in March 2009.

For the first time this year, we are also reporting on our social 
and environmental performance, according to the standards 
set out by the Global Reporting initiative, for which we received 
an independent assurance. this report provides a welcomed 
opportunity to present the progress we have achieved in imple-
menting effective fuel-saving measures, our approach towards 
limiting operational noise levels as well as our Company’s long-
term commitment both towards our staff and towards fully 
contributing to Luxembourg’s economy and society. this initial 
reporting effort will be pursued in the coming years, which will 
allow us to observe our progress in the areas reported.

OuTlOOK
the air cargo market will remain challenging for all involved 
and the industry will face overcapacity in 2009 as the demand 
is expected to remain weak. Banks do not seem to be able to 
provide the required funds and funding gap issues will proba-
bly result in the deferrals of deliveries and order cancellations. 
We see inefficient capacity being grounded and belly capacity 
reduced as a secondary effect of the passenger industry capaci-
ty cuts. taking into account the announced delays of the Boeing 
747-8F program, Cargolux will not take any delivery in 2009. 
this will not jeopardize Cargolux’s re-fleeting program and two 
debt-free 747-400Fs, already sold on a forward basis in 2007, 
are planned to leave our fleet in the second half of 2009.

However, in the current context, it will be an uphill struggle to-
wards recovery and profitability, with multiple hurdles along 
the way. We are confident to find a course through this storm, 
and thank all our customers, employees, shareholders, and 
creditors for their support and commitment throughout 2008, 
and in the years to come.

Luxembourg, april 9, 2009

uLRiCH OGiERMann 
president and CEO 
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the year 2008 will probably go down in history as being one of the 
most turbulent years the airline industry has faced over the last 
decade. indeed, 2008 proved to be a year of two halves:

the first half started with an expected air cargo growth rate of 
about 5% together with an all-time record aircraft order backlog, 
a EuR/us$ exchange rate rising towards the 1.60 barrier and 
unprecedented high oil prices close to us$150 per barrel.

in the second half, the bankruptcies of several financial institu-
tions as well as rising liquidity concerns announced that the world 
had entered into a new era: the global financial crisis. the demand 
for goods and services began to weaken and the world entered 
into one of the most severe recessions since the 1920’s, with an 
adjustment of oil prices by more than 75%, a harsh correction of 
the EuR/us$ exchange rate and a collapse of the air cargo market 
in december of more than 20%.

FiNaNCial pErFOrmaNCE
despite this difficult market environment, Cargolux carried sli-
ghtly more tonnes than in 2007 and revenues increased by 18% 
to us$ 2 billion, of which 30% related to fuel surcharges. the result 
for the year 2008 was negatively impacted by a new anti-trust 
provision of us$ 105.4 million, corresponding to the net present 
value of the fine payable to the united states department of Jus-
tice, a tax adjustment of us$ 38.1 million and a negative marked-
to-market impact of our derivative portfolio of us$ 24.6 million. 
as a consequence, the income Cargolux recorded for 2008 is a 
net loss of us$ 61 million. 

highlighTS OF ThE yEar
Operational results are satisfactory, given the circumstances, 
and show the strength of Cargolux’s all-cargo concept, the dedi-
cation of its staff and the loyalty of its customers. the Compa-
ny’s capacity, measured in atk, increased by 6.8% as a result of 
the arrival in July of our last 747-400F, Lx-yCV - ‘City of Contern’. 
at the same time 5% less wet-lease capacity was sourced leading 
to an overall atk growth of 1.1%. despite an improved aircraft uti-
lization of 15:37 blockhours, up 7 minutes from 2007, Cargolux’s 
production, as measured by Ftks, dropped by 2.3% due to lower 
load factors in the second half of the year. as in 2008 the air cargo 
market declined by 4%, we were able to strengthen our global 
market share at about 4%. 

these route changes underline the strength of Cargolux’s flexibi-
lity to adapt to changing market needs, while counting on a strong 
fleet reliability and high utilization of our 747-400F workhorse. 
these factors make in-house maintenance capability a key asset 
and we are eager to see our new maintenance hangar entering 
into service in 2009.
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 2008 2007 2006 2005

tOtaL inCOME in us$ ‘000 1,984,675 1,682,921 1,551,527 1,449,491

pROFit/(LOss) FOR tHE yEaR in us$ ‘000 (61,043) (47,099) 82,637 77,601

sHaREHOLdERs’ Equity in us$ ‘000 454,239 616,019 666,542 599,456

tOnnEs CaRRiEd 703,601 702,765 650,947 644,613

tOnnE-kiLOMEtERs FLOWn (MiLLiOns) 5,411 5,537 5,271 5,292

aVaiLaBLE tOnnE-kiLOMEtERs (MiLLiOns) 7,659 7,576 7,281 7,524

nuMBER OF EMpLOyEEs WORLdWidE 1,530 1,491 1,446 1,378

HEadquaRtERs 1,155 1,105 1,081 1,026

FlEET     

BOEinG 747-400F 16 15 14 14

airCraFT ON OrdEr    

BOEinG 747-400F - 1 2 -

BOEinG 747-8F 13 13 10 10

airCraFT SubjECT TO FOrward SalE agrEEmENTS 6 4 0 0
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board of directors

Marc HoffMann
chairman of luxair 
chairman

pierre GraMeGna
director general 
chambre de commerce  
luxembourg 
director

Max nilles
attaché de gouvernement 
member of the board of luxair 
director

jean Meyer
attorney at law 
director, Secretary of the board

fritz Grotz
representing Sairlines 
director 

Karl  WutHricH
attorney at law 
representing Sairlines 
director

rolf  WiniGer
representing Sairlines 
director

jean-claude fincK
President and ceo of 
banque et caisse d’epargne de l’etat 
director

alain GeorGes
chairman of 
bIP Investment Partners 
director

Société nationnale de crédit 
et d’Investissement, represented by
Gaston reinescH, President 
director 

roGer sietzen
Honorary chairman of the board

strateGy commIttee

Marc HoffMann
chairman of the committee

jean-claude fincK
alain GeorGes
pierre GraMeGna
Gaston reinescH
rolf WiniGer

audit commIttee

Marc HoffMann
chairman of the committee 

jean-claude fincK
pierre GraMeGna
fritz Grotz
alain GeorGes
Max nilles
Gaston reinescH

coMpensation commIttee

Marc HoffMann 
chairman of the committee  

jean-claude fincK
alain GeorGes
pierre GraMeGna
Max nilles
Gaston reinescH
Karl WutHricH

34,9% 
luxair

2,5% 
others 
(including lux-avantage)

33,7% 
Sairlines

28,9% 
luxembourg financial Institutions 
(bIP Investment Partners - bcee - SncI)

sHareHolders at december 31, 2008
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gENEral  
the onslaught of the recession and the extraordinary volatility 
in interest rates, foreign exchanges and fuel prices have made 
their imprint on our performance in 2008.

Because of the recession – which affected our loadfactors as 
from the third quarter – the air cargo market suffered a decline 
of 4% in 2008. the ever rising fuel prices – which peaked at us$ 
147/barrel in July – caused our revenues and fuel bill to reach 
record levels, at us$ 1,983.2 million and us$ 934.1 million, 
respectively. the fuel surcharge, representing 30.3% of our 
revenues in 2008, and net realized hedging gains were una-
ble to compensate for rapid, successive increases of the fuel 
price: we were largely unable to absorb the uncovered deficit 
elsewhere in our cost base. the low interest rate and fuel price 
environment that prevailed at the balance sheet date caused 
important unrealized losses of our related derivative portfo-
lios. the majority of these losses have been charged to equity.  
the unrealized, marked-to-market driven losses will be rever-
sed in future exercises to the extent that interest rates and 
fuel prices rise from their low year-end levels. the pre-antitrust 
provision results from operations were us$ 54.7 million, down 
from us$ 105.3 million or - 48 % from the comparable figure in 
2007. 

On 21 July, 2008, the 16th and last 747-400F – Lx-yCV, chris-
tened “City of Contern” – joined the Company’s fleet. Boeing 
advised in december that the delivery of the Company’s 13 
firm 747-8F orders would suffer delays of up to 10 months on 
the front-end. therefore, no B747-8F deliveries are expected 
before the summer of 2010. a new delivery schedule and re-
lated pre-delivery payment schedule have yet to be agreed 
with Boeing. On 7 July 2008, the Company sold two units of 
its existing fleet to silk Way of azerbaijan on a forward basis.  
Lx-nCV and Lx-MCV – which the Company currently leases from 
Freighter Leasing and with respect of which the Company has 
given notice that it will exercise its contractual purchase option 
at lease end – will be delivered to silk Way on October 2010 and 
March 2011, respectively.  

KEy pErFOrmaNCE iNdiCaTOrS
Capacity, as measured by available tonne kilometers (atk), 
increased by 6.8% due to the Lx-yCV delivery and Lx-WCV (de-
livered in august 2007) being available for the full year. addi-
tional capacity was sourced via wet-leases, which accounted 
for 3.4% of total atks for the year, 5% percent less than during 
the prior year, reflecting the gradual phase-out of leased capa-
city towards the end of the year. the Company’s production, as 

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

FiNaNCial rEviEw and anaLysis

measured by freight tonne kilommeters (Ftk) , was 2.3% lower 
than in 2007. tonnes sold stayed flat (+0.1%) at 703,601 tonnes. 
Based on iata statistics and measured by international Ftks, 
Cargolux’s global market share was about 4%, approximately 
the same level as in the year before. in the light of the overall 
economic development, load factors dropped to 70.6% or by 
2.4 percentage points on the prior year. average system yield 
(us$/kg) was 18% higher, mainly due to successive increases 
of the fuel surcharges until the middle of the year. increases in 
the underlying yields could be achieved in some markets, in 
particular ex the americas. the underlying yield ex Europe has 
additionally been boosted by the favorable EuR/us$ exchange 
rate. However, underlying yields and demand for air cargo uplift 
especially ex asia came under severe pressure towards the end 
of the year. daily average aircraft utilization of the Company’s 
fleet was 15:37 block hours, up 7minutes on the 2007 average. 

prOFiT aNd lOSS aCCOuNT 

Revenues increased by 18.1% from us$ 1,679.7 million to us$ 
1,983.2 million. 30.3% of the revenues, or us$ 601.6 million, 
was accounted for by the fuel surcharge, up 66.9% on 2007.

Other Operating Income decreased to us$ 1.5 million from us$ 
3.2 million in 2007.

TOTal iNCOmE
COnsOLidatEd, in us$ ‘000

2005 20072006 2008

1,449,491
1,551,527

1,682,921

1,984,675
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Aircraft Lease Expenses were down by us$ 57.8 million or 
42.3%. the main reasons for the decline were lower dry lease 
cost (down us$ 31.5 million to us$ 56.8 million, primarily due 
to the classification to finance lease of Lx-uCV and Lx-VCV as 
of december 2007 and Lx-MCV as of august 2008 following a 
notice given by the Company that it had opted to exercise its 
purchase option with respect of the aircraft) and lower aCMi ex-
penses, down 54.5% to us$ 21.9 million from us$ 48.2 million 
in 2007. 

Aircraft Maintenance Expenses (outsourced) went up 7.8% to 
us$ 101.8 million from us$ 94.4 million. this increase is mainly 
due to a rate increase under both the Rolls Royce and the GE 
engine maintenance contracts and the fleet increase in July 
2008. Other Aircraft Expenses represent premiums paid to 
insure the Company’s fleet and went down by 9.3% to us$ 3.1 
million. 

Depreciation increased by 29.1% to us$ 56.2 million mainly 
because of the classification to finance lease of the financing 
covering the aircraft mentioned above and the purchase of new 
aircraft under finance lease in 2008 (Lx-yCV).

Fuel increased by 48.9% to us$ 934.1 million and represents 
now 47.4% of total cost. net hedging gains of us$ 14.3 million 
were achieved. However, because of the high volatility in the 
oil market, the Company suffered negative marked-to-mar-
ket of positions taken during the spring and summer, when 
oil and fuel prices peaked. these hedging losses were mostly  
booked against the equity account. us$ 17.5 million of unrealized  
hedging losses could not be hedge accounted and are flown 
through the income statement. 

Personnel Costs and Benefits went up 8.9% to us$ 214.0 mil-
lion. the overall salary component went up by 12.0%, and, in 
Euro terms, the salary of all Luxembourg-based staff went up 
5.1% due to mandatory salary indexation, head count increases, 
time units and salary increases foreseen in the Collective Work 
agreement. 

Handling, Landing and Overflying increased by 7.9% to us$ 
270.9 million. Handling charges went up 9.9% due primarily to 
the appreciation of the EuR and other currencies versus the 
us$, an increase in cycles flown and handling rate increases. 
navigational charges increased by 9% due to the foreign ex-
change impact, increased block hours, as well as a new over-
flying charge system in China. Costs were also influenced by 
network changes shifting more capacity to areas with relati-
vely higher cost. the number of flights to africa and south ame-

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

FiNaNCial rEviEw and anaLysis 

rica grew by 16% compared to 2007 while the number of north  
atlantic flights dropped by 10%. Overall landing costs stayed flat. 
Trucking, Interlining  and Truck handling increased by 7.0% to 
us$ 116.8 million, due in part to an increase in interlining costs 
on some sectors. trucking and truck handling went up by 6.0% 
due to rate increases and exchange rate fluctuations while ton-
nes sold stayed stable. 

Other Operating Expenses include Gsa commissions, it ser-
vices, travel & entertainment, office rental and equipment, legal, 
audit and consulting fees, telecommunication expenses, 
etc. it is also under this line item that the Company booked 
a provision of us$ 154.9 million in the 2007 accounts with 
respect to the Company’s exposure to a monetary fine which 
could be imposed by the Eu Commission. this provision was  
reduced in the 2008 accounts for the reasons stated elsewhere 
in this report (see e.g. footnote 12 to the financial statements).  
However new provisions related to the anti-trust proceedings in 
the united states, australia and new Zealand and which could 
not be compensated by the adjustment to the provision for the 
EC fine caused a new exceptional charge to be booked against 
this item. EBit for the year stood at us$ 13.8 million compa-
red to us$ -33.0 million in 2007. Financial income decreased 
by 19.4% to us$ 9.3 million and financial expenses increased by 
67.9% to us$ 49.9 million. the main reasons for this increase 
are the classification to finance lease of the financing for the 
aircraft mentioned above and a negative marked-to-market of 
the Company’s interest rate hedging portfolio (us$ 4.2 million). 
net Finance Costs were us$ 40.6 million. 

Operating results were negatively impacted by fair value losses 
of us$ 24.6 million flown through the profit and loss account.  
in 2007, operating results were boosted by us$ 13.5 million of 
fair value gain. Before marked-to-market and anti-trust provi-
sions the pre-tax result was us$ 79.3 million, 13.6% down from 
the comparable 2007 figure. 

Loss Before Tax was us$ 22.9 million (2007: Loss of us$ 49.5 
million). Consolidated net after tax loss was us$ 61.0 million 
(2007: us$ 47.1 million). the reasons for the negative tax ad-
justment are discussed below. 
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balaNCE ShEET
Total Assets went up 18.9% to us$ 1,917.3 million from us$ 
1,612.7 million. this is primarily due to the on-balance sheet 
classification of the leases relating to Lx-MCV (previously ac-
counted for as an operating lease) and Lx-yCV.

Shareholders’ Equity decreased by 26.3% to us$ 454.2 million 
from us$ 616.0 million due to (i) the us$ 61.0 million loss for 
the fiscal year and (ii) the portion of the fuel and interest rate 
derivative portfolio which is hedge accounted.

interest-bearing liabilities (including finance leases) increased 
by 49.2% to us$ 799.0 million from us$ 535.5 million.  
the increase is mainly due to the acquisition of Lx-yCV, the  
financing of deposits made to Boeing for the acquisition of  
the two first B747-8F aircraft and the on-balance sheet clas-
sification of Lx-MCV. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Other  
Investments increased by 14.8% from us$ 167.2 million to us$ 
192 million. net financial gearing amounted to 134.0% and net 
adjusted (to take into account the present value of future lease 
payments) was 174.8%.

braNCh NETwOrK
the Company operates worldwide through a network of bran-
ches established in 35 countries. 

CONSOlidaTiON
the consolidated accounts comprise Cargolux RE s.a., a captive 
reinsurance company which was created in February 2004 and 
which is fully owned by the Company. in addition, the Company 
equity accounts in its consolidated financial statements its 
participation in Champ Cargosystems s.a. (49%), Luxfuel (30%) 
and Freighter Leasing s.a. (33.3%), which was incorporated in 
december 2006 and to which the Company sold and leased 
back 3 units of its existing fleet.

FiNaNCial gEariNg
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Tax adjuSTmENTS
Current tax for the year amounts to us$ 3.1 million versus us$ 
8.5 million in 2007. However, in 2008 the Company suffers a 
substantial adjustment of deferred taxes. the main reasons 
for the us$ 39.0 million adjustment are the consequence of  
(i) the reversal of unused investment tax Credits (itC) (see be-
low), (ii) taxes being assessed on the basis of a Luxembourg 
Gaap balance sheet which requires significant accounting 
changes from iFRs and (iii) a one time charge resulting from 
the adoption of the year end exchange rate to prepare the tax  
balance sheet (in previous exercises some balance sheet 
items had to be translated into euros at their corresponding 
historical exchange rate which caused a high degree of volati-
lity in the income statement). all the above were offset by and 
to the extent of the benefit of tax losses of us$ 25.2 million.  
itC can be carried forward for 10 years; unused they expire.  
the Company suffered two consecutive years of losses and the 
latest available business plan for the period 2009-2011 shows 
a decline in future pre-tax income compared to previous busi-
ness plans. the combined effect of the losses and downwards 
revision of the business plan caused the reversal of the itC 
mentioned above.

prOFiT aNd lOSS margiN aNalySiS
On a pro-forma basis, excluding exceptional items (2007 and 
2008: anti-trust provisions), the EBit and EBitdaR margins 
would have been 4.6% (2007: 7.25%) and 11.4% (2007: 18.0%) 
respectively.
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OvErall viEw 
2008 was an extremely volatile year for everyone in the indus-
try. For Cargolux, 2008 can be characterized in simple terms: 
strong markets but fuel costs moving from high to extremely 
high in the first half; weakening markets, falling to extreme 
lows with drastically declining fuel prices in the second half.

in terms of tonnages sold, we experienced a decline in the 
united states that was mainly capacity-driven. We also saw a 
decline in Europe and asia that was in part balanced by strong 
growth in africa, especially into and out of africa, where nairobi 
was our strongest growing market by far.

Our revenue and cost curves criss-crossed towards the end 
of the year, creating circumstances which made it difficult to 
maintain a profitable network operation. nevertheless, our 
overall business registered a slight tonnage growth of 0.1% in 
2008.

However, tonne kilometers flown declined by 2.3% and our sys-
tem-wide load factor dropped by 2.4 ppt. to 70.6%.

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

OvErall BusinEss REViEW 

marKET viEw 
the explosion of oil prices coupled with the implosion of the 
worldwide economy after October 2008 had a major influence 
on the performance of the industry. 

Markets grew between 2% and 5% in the first half of 2008 
and, with the collapsing economy, dropped to a dramatic -17% 
in december 2008. this phenomenon affected all markets 
worldwide, but was particularly noticeable in asian exports. 

perishable shipments remained reasonably firm throughout 
the year, especially from south america and africa, where they 
contributed towards making this area our strongest growth 
market.

africa showed a growth of 8.2% in tonnage, while the united states 
registered a decline of -2.9%, Europe -1.7% and asia -1.9%.

yields fared better with a system-wide increase of 18%, largely 
driven by increases in fuel surcharges but also by local yield 
increases, notably out of the usa.

marKET SharE 
in early 2008, we were capacity-constrained and registered no 
growth in market share. in the last two months of the year, we 
saw our market share grow significantly.

Overall, our market share in 2008 was just around 4%, roughly 
the same level as the year before.

FlEET 
Cargolux took delivery of its sixteenth and last B747-400F in 
July 2008. additionally, we wet-leased one B747-200F throughout 
the year and one B747-400F from January to april. Both aircraft 
were supplied and operated by air atlanta icelandic.

daily aircraft utilization increased by 0.7% compared to the pre-
vious year, reaching 15:37 block hours per day. With this rate, 
Cargolux remains at the top of all B747-400F operators.

Boeing announced a delay of the new B747-8F production,  
resulting in a new delivery date for Cargolux’s first unit in the 
second half of 2010. Cargolux is the launch customer for this 
new generation freighter aircraft.

TOTal TONNES CarriEd
in MEtRiC tOnnEs

2005

644,613 650,947

702,765 703,601

20072006 2008
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NETwOrK
the delivery of our last B747-400F enabled us to expand our 
network, adding some new destinations and strengthening 
others. additional services were introduced to places such as 
almaty, doha and Baku, while new destinations included Cairo, 
Miami, Vienna, Brussels, Hahn, amsterdam and tbilisi in Georgia. 

in order to successfully mitigate the adverse circumstances 
of 2008, we had to rely on our versatile network policy. at the 
beginning of 2008, we fine-tuned the network to deal with the 
rising fuel costs. We eliminated some fuel-intensive routes, for 
instance to australia and the us West Coast, and our continuous 
restructuring was mainly driven by the rising oil price.

Later in the year, the picture changed completely and we found 
ourselves chasing the demand in the market, trying to keep our 
fleet in the air and earning revenue to cover our fixed costs.  
all of the sudden, it was a very different game! Costs in the se-
cond half of 2009 benefited from the oil price decline.

TraFFiC righTS aNd FiFTh FrEEdOm 
the fuel price developments in the first half of the year and the 
economic collapse in the second half necessitated creativity in 
adapting our network.

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

OvErall BusinEss REViEW 

We saw a major breakthrough in our operations to and from Bra-
zil, where, with the support of the Luxembourg government, we 
were granted scheduled traffic rights after operating charter 
services for 10 years. the signing of a bilateral agreement gave 
us seven weekly frequencies, including fifth freedom rights 
from Brazil to Ecuador, Colombia and all african states.

austria granted us fifth freedom rights between Hong kong and 
Vienna. With the benefit of those rights, we launched a weekly 
service in June and added a second flight in september.

towards the end of the year, after trying unsuccessfully to 
take over an existing operation, we also began to prepare 
with partners the launch of Cargolux italia, that is expec-
ted to begin operations during the second quarter of 2009.  
Cargolux italia will support our strong position in the italian  
market, where Cargolux was the biggest cargo operator in 2008.  
this helped us obtain the necessary local and political support 
for the new airline. We continue to operate the Luxembourg – 
Milan shuttle flights to better connect italy with our worldwide 
network.

the first phase of the landmark Eu – us open skies agreement 
went into effect on 30 March 2008, which made it possible 
to operate flights from Milan to new york and Chicago in early 
2009.

Cooperation with toumai air tchad made it possible to operate 
a new abu dhabi – n’djamena flight. For this operation, we re-
opened our abu dhabi station.

We continued our successful cooperation with Finnair on the 
Helsinki – Hong kong route, with Mexicana between Mexico 
and the united states and with south african airways between 
Johannesburg and Lagos. the latter service was extended to 
include accra.

a new cooperation with Hewa Bora airways resulted in a 
weekly Brussels – kinshasa service. 

the additional fifth freedom rights that were granted to us gave 
Cargolux a number of new destinations and resulted in an ex-
pansion of our network. Fifth freedom tonnage in our system 
reached 19%, while related revenues rose from 15% to 16%.

TONNE-KilOmETErS FlOwN
in MiLLiOns

2005

5,537
5,411

5,292 5,271

20072006 2008
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arEa by arEa

arEa 1 – ThE amEriCaS
the year in area 1 started off much where 2007 ended, with 
continued growth across all sectors. 2008 ranks among the 
most successful years on record for the americas and we have 
seen retention and growth in most markets. in total, area 1 pro-
duced 130,000 tonnes.

Revenue in north america was over us$ 246 million, 16% above 
the previous year. the increase in revenue was driven both by 
increased fuel surcharges and by a growing underlying yield. 
Load factors increased by 3% compared to 2007.

north america continued to grow the so-called “network car-
go”, by moving 25,000 tonnes of cargo through Luxembourg 
to onward network destinations in the Middle East and africa.  
this represents an increase of 2,000 tonnes over the previous 
year.

We continued the ongoing review of our route network in the 
americas to ensure maximum efficiency and, as a result,  
decided to consolidate capacity on the West Coast of the usa 
in Los angeles and seattle and to discontinue services into san 
Francisco. this market is still served by truck, though, with a 
regular weekly feed.

We saw continued growth amongst our top customers with 
17 out of our top 20 clients showing positive growth over the 
previous year.

south america also turned in a good performance: Revenues 
reached over us$ 63 million, 26% above the previous year.  
Load factors for the year remained at 93%, identical to the pre-
vious year, despite an increase in deployed capacity. 

Ecuador is by far our largest market in south america and  
represents almost 50% of total south america revenues.  
We were again active in providing much needed additional 
capacity during the peak flower season out of Columbia and 
Ecuador by routing an additional seven flights through these 
markets. 

an ever-growing area of success has been the continued growth 
of our fifth freedom sectors in south america. this has been our 
continued focus and we have seen a significant increase in re-
venue derived therefrom. 

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

OvErall BusinEss REViEW 

arEa 2 –EurOpE, CENTral aSia aNd wEST aFriCa
in 2008, area 2 reached a production of 289,000 tonnes, 2% 
less than in 2007. Revenue grew by 18% to us$ 734 million. 
 the area handled 51,000 tonnes (+22%) of non-area 2 transit 
cargo, so that, in total, 49% of our production was carried on 
export flights from our hub in Luxembourg.

the steady production level reflects the available capacity and 
its deployment, whereas the revenue development was affec-
ted by a competitive market environment, marked by conti-
nuous pressure on rates, extraordinary fuel price fluctuations 
and foreign exchange volatility.

Given these circumstances, we constantly monitored the 
market development to optimize yields and capacity alloca-
tions between traditional and developing markets.

due to an underlying trade imbalance between asia and Europe 
and the resulting rate pressure on eastbound flights to asian 
destinations, the focus remained on destinations in the near 
and Middle East as well as the Caspian sea area and Central 
asia which are served via Baku, where the cooperation with 
azeri carrier silk Way was expanded. the network was adapted  
accordingly, with new or increased frequencies to Cairo, amman, 
doha and dubai, including the addition of tbilisi to the network. 

Flights to africa developed strongly and additional capacity 
was deployed to Lagos, kinshasa, accra and abidjan.

the market to south america has shown a healthy develop-
ment, so that one additional Brazil frequency was introduced in 
august. However, we had to scale back that service towards the 
end of the year as a result of a sharp drop in automotive traffic 
to Brazil. Capacity to Mexico was kept steady in 2008.

On north atlantic sectors, high fuel cost, unfavorable exchange 
rate developments and demand shifts caused some structural 
changes. traditional long-haul flights to the us West Coast have 
been reduced in frequencies and the direct service to san Fran-
cisco was discontinued, while additional capacity has been 
allocated to us East Coast destinations to satisfy customer 
demand. new flights have been added to Miami, with connec-
tions to Caribbean and Latin american destinations, while the 
service to Houston has been extended.
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Cargolux’s coverage of the European export markets was 
strengthened. Our market share grew in most countries.  
Germany and italy are the biggest export markets, both in 
size and importance. the scheduled feeder flights between 
Luxembourg and Milan are the backbone of a successful mar-
ket presence. smaller markets like France, Belgium, the uk, the 
netherlands, switzerland and the nordic countries have expe-
rienced  higher growth rates. Feeder flights from Budapest and 
Barcelona have stabilized our presence in these markets and 
two new feeder flights from Vienna were introduced in 2008. 
Our presence in turkey was boosted by regular freighter capa-
city linking istanbul to the worldwide network via our Luxem-
bourg hub.

despite the crisis that hit the European export industries in the 
last quarter of 2008, our strong presence and adaptive com-
mercial market approach has helped to avoid production short-
falls in 2008 and enabled us to increase our market share in the 
European and Central asian countries.

arEa 3 – aSia paCiFiC
2008 held both threat and opportunity for the industry, espe-
cially in the asia and pacific region. Export growth was steady 
in the first three quarters of the year, but the pace slowed down 
compared to the boom of the last few years. For the first time 
in decades, almost half of the shipping costs were surcharges, 
reflecting the increasingly higher fuel costs. On the other hand, 
the beginning of the Cross-strait flights marked a big change in 
the air transportation history. it created much speculation but 
also positive reactions from our customers. 

the area produced a total of 197,000 tonnes, including fifth 
freedom traffic. this translated into more than us$ 750 mil-
lions in revenue. including fifth freedom traffic, our load factor 
in 2008 was again very high.

Hong kong remained one of our biggest stations worldwide and 
the biggest station in the area. a 14th weekly frequency was ad-
ded in august in preparation for the traditional high season in 
the last quarter. Our direct services to Eastern Europe, Barce-
lona, Helsinki and the connection to Malpensa via Luxembourg 
remained strong and continued to drive the station’s growth.

due to the escalated demand in that market, a fourth Hong kong-
Budapest frequency was introduced in February. Furthermore, 
two additional direct frequencies to Vienna were inaugurated, 
in June and september respectively. these flights were intro-
duced as a result of our customers’ demand and also to further 
strengthen our market share on routes to Eastern Europe. 

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

OvErall BusinEss REViEW 

Other stations in Greater China continued their crucial contri-
bution to our system. a new frequency was launched out of 
shanghai on Wednesdays. direct services into Budapest from 
taipei were explored and our space-swap program with other 
carriers was expanded. it gave us operational benefits and cost 
efficiency. 

south East asian markets were steady. We saw growing traf-
fic from singapore and kuala Lumpur to the Middle East, cate-
ring to the increasing demand for oil well drilling equipment.  
Bangkok showed strong growth throughout the year. a new 
fifth-freedom sector, Bangkok-Hong kong, was launched and 
generated additional revenue. 

Overall, the export markets were healthy and steady in the first 
three quarters of 2008, even though they were highly compe-
titive. the worldwide economic turmoil in the latter part of the 
year did not really hit exports until november and december. 
since then, we have strived to reduce costs by combining com-
mercial stops and routings. some stations diversified their pro-
ducts and services by exploring different markets, such as the 
Middle East, south america and africa. Fifth-freedom revenue 
remained an important source of revenue. 

Flexibility and a quick reaction to customers’ needs helped us 
to protect our market position. 
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 arEa 4 – middlE EaST, SOuTh aNd EaST aFriCa
area 4 had a satisfactory year: Freight tonnage production 
went up by 8,2% to 70,000 tonnes, while revenues grew 20,8% 
to us$ 112,6 million, however largely driven by increased fuel 
surcharges. 

the uaE, particularly dubai, has shown a growth in tonnage of 
9.4% compared to the previous year. sea-air cargo went up 31% 
to 38,500 tonnes. transshipments represent half of the area’s 
total tonnage and mainly go to Europe, africa and other Middle 
East destinations. 

as in 2007, Cargolux experienced increased demand and we 
expect that this trend will continue into 2009.

However, 2008 was also very challenging, with fuel prices fol-
lowing a roller-coaster pattern and the worldwide economic 
crisis hitting the area. the uaE and most of the region have felt 
the effect primarily in the banking, finance and realty sectors.  
air cargo imports have remained mostly steady and are expec-
ted to continue this way. the increase in capacity into the uaE 
and the consistent demand for airlift into qatar and saudi ara-
bia are fuelling this growth. 

Regarding the african export region, kenya remained our 
biggest market. in 2008, two more flights were added to our 
network out of kenya, bringing our services up to 11 flights 
per week; three to Manston, two to amsterdam and seven to  
Maastricht. tonnage increased by 22%, compared to 2007. 

africa continues to be the area’s focus. a new operation was 
started from abu dhabi to n’djamena in cooperation whith tou-
mai air tchad in august 2008. We also operated outbound flights 
from Cairo back to Luxembourg, carrying fresh strawberries and 
green beans. Egypt is also a good market for oil drilling equip-
ment. Live horses are regularly carried and crystals are often 
flown from Cairo to Hong kong.

south africa saw a decrease compared to 2007. We operated 
four weekly flights to Johannesburg that continued to nairobi, 
Lagos and Lusaka. Main commodities shipped from south  
africa to Lagos include drilling and mining equipment and  
spares, car parts, electronic consumer commodities, medical 
equipment and perishables. Because there is a large expan-
sion of mobile phone coverage in West africa, we have seen 
increased shipments of telecom equipment.

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

OvErall BusinEss REViEW

Exports also include car parts for assembly lines in the united 
kingdom, Germany, France and italy. these consist of leather 
seat covers, catalytic converters and engine blocks. seasonal 
traffic included flowers, fruit, fish and seafood. 

CharTEr
2008 was an extremely good year for our charter operations. 
in the beginning of the year, we used a leased-in B747-400F 
to fly charters for the automotive industry. Charter flights to 
africa were very strong all through the year. With the economic 
downturn towards the end of the year, we focused even more 
on the charter business to make use of increased downtime in 
the network.

OuTlOOK
2009 will be an extremely tough year for Cargolux and the in-
dustry. in the first few weeks of 2009, we saw a further decline 
in the market to -20% levels. Cargolux’s relative performance 
in this market trend is substantially better, which is a hopeful 
sign. it will, however, be a challenge to operate profitably under 
these circumstances and we don’t expect the year to be “busi-
ness as usual”.

1275_CargoLux_RA_10-04-09 début F.indd   23 14/04/09   11:45:55



high rEliabiliTy
Cargolux’s Maintenance and Engineering division maintains 
our fleet of 16 B747-400F, as well as aircraft of several airline 
customers. 

Our scheduled reliability improved slightly over 2008, rea-
ching just over 98%. this was partly due to the introduction of 
our Maintenance Control Center in mid 2008. the Maintenance 
Control Center (MCC) is linked to line maintenance and monitors 
all aircraft movements throughout the Cargolux network from a 
technical point of view.

the MCC allows us to be proactive in addressing problems on 
an aircraft, giving line stations pre-advice and suggesting trou-
bleshooting and repair scenarios. this helps us to minimize air-
craft ground times and enhances our technical reliability.

hEavy maiNTENaNCE
Only one d-Check was performed during 2008; it was also the 
final d-Check contracted to kLM in amsterdam. kLM has infor-
med us that they are no longer offering checks on customer 
B747 aircraft, which made it necessary for us to find a new ser-
vice partner. as of august 2009, d-Checks on our B747s will be 
performed in singapore by sia Engineering Company.

in January 2009, the last C-Check will be performed at kLM. 
With the opening of our new maintenance hangar in May 2009, 
we will now performe these checks in-house. Building up  
experience and capabilities also allows us to increase our third 
party work and we will include customer B747 C-Checks in our 
service portfolio.

Third parTy maiNTENaNCE
With the winding down of B747 third party maintenance work 
at kLM, Cargolux remains one of the few operators offering 
B747 maintenance in Europe. Consequently, we are talking to a 
number of existing and potential customers about work on their 
fleets as soon as our new hangar is operational.

in 2008, our third-party maintenance activities generated re-
venues in excess of of us$ 8.4 million, more than budgeted. 
this was made possible by a solid base of satisfied customers 
and the professionalism and skills of our workforce.

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

maiNTENaNCE and ENgiNEEriNg

FOCuS ON ThE -8
Cargolux is a launch customer of Boeing’s 747-8F; the first unit 
of the type will join our fleet in 2010. in 2008, we intensified 
the preparations for the -8 introduction, working closely with 
Boeing to get our maintenance organization ready for the air-
craft. 

OThEr prOjECTS
New hangar: Construction of our new Hangar progressed accor-
ding to schedule.

Moving our maintenance organization to the new facilities 
requires careful planning and 2008 saw the beginning of pre-
parations that culminate in the physical relocation to our new 
hangar in May 2009. this state-of-the-art building will support 
our goals to:

 achieve higher productivity, mainly reflected in the reduced  
  downtime of the aircraft for ‘a’ checks;

 enable us to insource ‘C’ checks and other specific projects;
 expand our services to customers;
 develop a center of excellence for B747-8 aircraft.

Cargolux italia: Cargolux has decided to establish a new airline 
in italy in 2009: Cargolux italia. Our Maintenance and Enginee-
ring division was involved in setting up this entity from the 
technical side. 

Trax
On the software side, our “tRax” system was further developed: 
one case in point is resource planning and controlling, which 
helps us to work and plan efficiently and better track the jobs 
we have performed. this new module was developed in close 
cooperation with the designer of “tRax” and is expected to go 
live in the second quarter 2009.
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FlEET pErFOrmaNCE
during 2008, Cargolux increased its average daily aircraft uti-
lisation rate. Our fleet of Boeing 747-400F flew an average of 
15:37 block hours per day, which represents an increase of 
seven minutes per day for each aircraft, compared to 2007.  
this figure places Cargolux among the airlines using this air-
craft type most intensively worldwide.

Cargolux’s network punctuality also saw an improvement  
of 6.3% over 2007. 58.6% of all flights departed within 1 hour of 
our schedule. the network punctuality improvement is partly 
due to Cargolux’s pitstop delay recovery program, which has 
become part of the company’s standard day-to-day operating 
procedures. as many as 1,119 hours of delay could be recove-
red thanks to this system of advance notification, which ensu-
res that all parties involved in turning around a delayed aircraft 
are ready at all stations where this aircraft will be landing.

ManaGEMEnt’s REpORt OF aCtiVitiEs 

FlighT OpERatiOns 

iOSa aCCrEdiTaTiON
On 16 december 2008 Cargolux became fully accredited under 
the iata Operational safety audit program (iOsa), following an 
audit process that began in October 2007. iOsa measured our 
airline against over 700 safety standards and recommended 
practices in the management of the Company’s Flight Opera-
tions, Ground Operations, Maintenance and Engineering and 
Operational security.

the iOsa accreditation offers a guarantee to our customers and 
air transport authorities that our operational management, qua-
lity, safety and security are of the highest level. it also shows 
that continuous efforts are made to improve them further, in 
line with the evolution of best practices within the air transport 
sector.

the accreditation is valid for two years from the date of the first 
iOsa audit, and Cargolux is currently preparing the first renewal 
of its accreditation, due in October 2009.

 
daily airCraFT uTilizaTiON
pER BOEinG 747-400 FREiGHtER

2005

15:53

15:41

15:30
15:37

20072006 2008
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CArgolUx And The envIrOnmenT

One of Cargolux’s key business principles is to seek at all times to operate with the smallest 
possible impact on the environment, be it in terms of atmospheric emissions, noise or other 
waste materials. Upholding this modus operandi is essential to ensure the long term viability 
of the airline.  

Cargolux has a direct economic interest in applying this principle: aviation being an energy-
intensive activity, any reduction in fuel consumption translates into increased efficiency and 
profitability. Similarly, it is in the Company’s interest to produce as little noise as possible, to 
reduce as much as possible disturbances to neighboring communities to the airports where 
we operate, and to maintain close control of the Company’s waste production. 

Cargolux demonstrated its commitment to environmentally sound operations by taking 
two decisions at the end of 2007. The first one was to sign up to the UN Global Compact. 
In so doing, Cargolux pledged to apply 10 key principles of sound management from the 
environmental and social point of view. The present report indicates Cargolux’s progress 
towards their implementation.

The second decision was to undergo ISO 14001 Certification for our flight operations and 
aircraft maintenance and engineering activities, both core business divisions of the Company. 
The certification process began in 2008. Cargolux received the ISO14001 certification for 
its flight operations including its type rating training organisation on 19 March 2009; the 
Company will seek to extend this certification to its maintenance and engineering activities by 
end-2009. 

As foreseen by ISO 14001 guidelines, Cargolux developed an environmental policy in 2008, 
which further codifies the Company’s commitment in this field. This policy was adopted in 
February 2009. 

1275_CargoLux_RA_10-04-09 Sustainability F.indd   28 14/04/09   11:48:28



29

annualreport .08
CArgolUx And The envIrOnmenT

i. energy USe And AtmoSpheriC emiSSionS

Cargolux’s long range air cargo activities are energy-intensive, 
and the vast majority of the Company’s energy usage is dedicated 
to its fl ight operations. according to an internal study undertaken 
in 2007, an estimated 98.7% of all CO2 emitted by the Company in 
that year are due to our core activity, whereas 0.7% are attribu-
table to our trucking operations and 0.6% to all other activities of 
the Company (maintenance, ground handling, heating, employee 
commuting, electricity use, waste disposal, duty travel). In 2008 
Cargolux’s aviation fuel expense amounted to us$ 934 million, or 
47.4% of the Company’s overall operating expenses 

Consequently, the atmospheric emissions resulting from our 
fl ight operations represent by far the largest share of Cargolux’s 
total environmental impact. By the same token, it is the aspect 
Cargolux seeks to maintain most tightly under control.

A) flight operAtionS

Cargolux has a threefold interest in reducing its energy use:

1. financially, aviation fuel represents the largest burden on 
the Company, far above capital investments and labor costs. 
any reduction in fuel consumption contributes directly to the 
financial health of our Company ;

2. from an environmental point of view, Cargolux can play a 
direct part in reducing global greenhouse gas production, and 
wishes to do so to support the sustainable development of the 
global community;

3. from a regulatory point of view, with the implementation 
of the european union emissions trading scheme (eu-eTs), 
Cargolux will need to regularly reduce its emissions in order to 
limit future purchases of CO2 credits.

Cargolux’s commitment to reducing its fuel consumption (and 
CO2 emissions) per production unit, whenever possible, is 
demonstrated by the fi gures of recent years. 

whereas in 2005 Cargolux aircraft emitted on average 538 gram 
CO2 for each tonne transported over 1 km, in 2007 the emission 
rate was reduced to 526g per tonne-km, an effi ciency impro-
vement of 2.1% over the 3-year period. These fi gures are deri-
ved from fuel purchased by and invoiced to Cargolux. In 2008 
a new system was introduced for the measurement of our fuel 
consumption, to be consistent with the requirements of the euro-
pean union’s new emissions Trading system for aviation. 

This system collects actual fuel consumption fi gures of each 
fl ight operated by Cargolux, including fl ights operated using 
leased-in capacity. It returned a CO2 emission rate of 535g per 
tonne-km for 2008, measured on the basis of Cargolux’s world-
wide operation. all future CO2 measurements will be underta-
ken using this new system.  

These fi gures indicate that Cargolux has successfully managed, 
over the past years, to keep in check its overall fuel consump-
tion and to maintain a positive overall energy trend. 

many different measures have been introduced over the past 
several years to increase the energy effi ciency of our fl ight 
operations. These are detailed below. however, the effi ciency 
of long-range fl ight operations also depends on many exter-
nal and economical factors, as a result of which the effi ciency 
benefi ts of fuel-saving measures are often only visible over 
longer periods of time. 

while the energy consumption fi gure reported for 2008 can-
not be compared to those of previous years, because of the 
new methodology used to calculate it, its higher value could 
be explained by a lower average load factor recorded over the 
year (70.6% in 2008, compared to 73% in 2007). Operational 
constraints also affect the operational performance of our air-
craft, including our average sector length, altitudes fl own or 
waiting times to be allowed to land at airports. Finally, external 
factors, such as changes in predominant winds, also play an 
important role. 

Below, we discuss in more detail each of the major programs 
recently undertaken by Cargolux to reduce fuel burn and rela-
ted air emissions:

1) “Cost-index” flying: In mid-2007, Cargolux implemen-
ted a cost-index based flight planning speed schedule. 
The cost index takes into account several cost variables in a 
flight and is used to determine how fast an aircraft should fly. 
For instance, if an aircraft is not bound to time-critical landing 
slots or crew duty times, it may fly at a slower speed than the 
standard mach 0.85. 

2008 was the first full year during which cost-index-based 
flying was applied. as a result, Cargolux achieved an estima-
ted fuel saving of 9,025 tonnes throughout 2008, compared 
to our previous method of flying our aircraft. This represents a 
saving of 28,430 tonnes of  CO

2.
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2) Saving on ApU use: The auxiliary Power unit (aPu) is 
a small turbine located in the tail section of the aircraft.  
It provides electrical power when no ground energy supply is 
available, and pneumatic air to start the main aircraft engines. 
The aPu has several drawbacks: it is noisy and uses signifi-
cant amounts of fuel to provide power. In 2007, a network-
wide campaign was launched to ensure that, wherever possi-
ble, electric power was obtained from the airport, either from 
a mobile ground power unit (diesel powered), or from a fixed 
ground power installation. Ground power is far more fuel-effi-
cient and in many cases cheaper. 

as a result, through 2008, the average usage of the aPu could 
be reduced by 8.8% over the year compared to 2007, which re-

presents an average monthly saving of 12 hours per aircraft. 
This represents a total saving of 817 tonnes of fuel over the 
year, or 2,574 tonnes of CO2. 

3) Aircraft weight reduction: In 2008, a weight reduction pro-
gram was undertaken for our entire fleet. approximately 250 
kg of material could be removed from each one of our aircraft 
through a modification of our bulk cargo compartment, the 
removal of unused cargo locks and a modification of our fly-
away maintenance kit. 

Bearing in mind that each kg saved across the fleet repre-
sents a saving of approximately 2700 Kg of fuel over the year, 
this program is estimated to lead to an overall fuel saving of 
close to 675 tonnes, or 2,100 tonnes of CO2.

CArgolUx Unit of prodUCtion: the freight tonne-kilometer (ftk)

as a cargo airline, Cargolux measures its production in the number of metric tonnes of cargo flown over numbers of kilometers. 
This gives an indication of how much freight was transported, as well as the distance each tonne traveled (on average). 

Co2 evolUtion -1.1% +3.5%

Co2 / ftk evolUtion -0.7% -1.5% 
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4) Center of gravity optimization: The fuel consumption of 
an aircraft is influenced by the way cargo loads are balanced 
out on the aircraft, and by the center of gravity that is achie-
ved as a result of this load balancing. an ideal center of gra-
vity has been defined by Cargolux, through which the lowest 
fuel consumption is achieved without compromising safety.   
Cargolux’s load planners seek at all times to reach this cen-
ter of gravity, within the operational constraints imposed by 
each routing. 

since 2008, a new IT module has been integrated into our load 
planning system that makes it possible  to plan the aircraft 
loading more precisely and bring it closer to the optimal cen-
ter of gravity. an analysis of all flights undertaken in 2008 has 
shown that, thanks to this tool, flights are now loaded more 
closely to the ideal center of gravity. Overall, 9.5% more flights 
are now loaded within 0.5% of the target compared to a refe-
rence period in 2007, before the tool was used. 

Fuel savings achieved as a result over the year amount to an 
estimated 88.6 tonnes.

5) engine compressor washing: research performed by  
Cargolux’s engineering department in 2007 and 2008 has 
shown that certain engine types consume less fuel if the core 
of the engine is regularly washed. This removes the deposits 
that accumulate over time on the compressor blade airfoils 
and improves airflow and overall engine performance.  

Our research has found that washed General electric engines 
consume up to 0.18% less fuel. The same procedure applied to 
rolls royce engines does not yield substantial fuel savings, 
but does improve the longevity of the engine. 

In 2008 Cargolux has begun regularly cleaning  both General 
electric and rolls royce engines. Based on our current fuel 
consumption and Ge-engined fleet composition, we expect 
savings of approximately 500 tonnes of fuel per year as a  
result. 

6) fuel usage for air-conditioning: In certain cases, flying 
goods at specific temperatures requires more fuel than  
flying non temperature-sensitive cargo. In 2008, our flight  
planning department systematically started to plan additio-
nal fuel requirements when perishable goods are on board. 
This removes an element of uncertainty in our flight opera-
tions, which previously led pilots, in certain cases, to request 
more fuel than necessary.  

AviAtion emiSSionS:  
whAt Are they, whAt iS their impACt on the 
environment? 

aircraft engines have tremendously evolved over time, which 
resulted in substantial improvements as far as atmospheric 
emissions are concerned. Contrary to models of previous deca-
des, modern jet aircraft such as the Boeing 747-400F emit com-
paratively small amounts of carbon monoxide (CO) or unburned 
hydrocarbons (uhC). 

however, they do emit carbon dioxide (CO2), Oxides of nitrogen 
(nOx) and water vapor, all three of which contribute to global 
warming at varying degrees. engines also emit smaller quan-
tities of particulates, which are also believed to contribute to 
global warming. 

while aircraft engine manufacturers try to reduce the overall 
emissions of their engines, the engineering challenges get 
more and more difficult to overcome as the engines get better. 

For instance, more efficient engines burn fuel at higher tem-
peratures, which will result in a higher power output with less 
CO2 emissions. however the high temperatures also result in 
high nOx output. Conversely, reducing the burning temperature 
reduces nOx emissions but the engine requires more fuel to 
achieve the same power, and therefore would emit more CO2. 

The challenge of engine makers is to produce engines with high 
power output at relatively low temperatures, featuring a rela-
tively low fuel burn and low nOx emissions at the same time.  
all manufacturers are currently contributing to this tremendous 
research effort. The latest result is the Genx engine produced 
by General electrics, that will equip the next generation Boeing 
747-8F, planned for delivery in 2010. 

legal limits are set on the amounts of nOx that may be emitted. 
The engine types operated by Cargolux fall well below these limits. 

CO2 emissions, on the other hand, occur in direct relation to 
fuel consumption and cannot be regulated in the same way.  
scientific research has determined that, for each kg of fuel 
burnt in an aircraft turbine, 3.15kg of CO2 are emitted into the 
atmosphere. The responsibility falls therefore on airlines to 
constantly improve their equipment and procedures, in order 
to ensure that their flight operations are as energy efficient as 
possible. 
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fleet performAnCe monitoring

aside from the fuel-saving exercise outlined above, a one-time 
saving was realized in 2006 when one of Cargolux’s aircraft 
was re-calibrated. extensive research indicated that its flight 
profile did not correspond to measurements made by its own 
instruments. This was found to be due to a small inaccuracy in 
the profile of the aircraft’s skin in the area of one of the aircraft 
sensors, which was therefore returning incorrect speed and 
altitude information. a re-profiling of the fuselage was underta-
ken and the instruments now function accurately. 

since this small modification was made this particular aircraft 
burns an estimated 790 tonnes less fuel each year. 

ongoing progrAmS

In addition to the actions underlined above, Cargolux is current-
ly engaged in several programs that will lead to additional fuel 
savings in the near future. 

SAtellite CommUniCAtionS

Cargolux is testing a new cost-effective satellite communica-
tion system for its aircraft, based on the Iridium network. 

satellite communications offer the advantage of allowing 
aircraft to fly where no air traffic control is available over vhF 
radio. as a result, straighter routings become available over 
desert areas, high-sea regions (e.g. the Pacific) or the north 
Polar region. many of these routings are part of the Future air 
navigation system (Fans), a new data-based air traffic control 
system. They are only accessible to aircraft equipped with both 
Fans data transfer and satellite communications technology. 

Cargolux has been involved in the development of Iridium for 
aviation use from the earliest stages. since 2008, Cargolux is 
taking part in the work of an Faa rulemaking Committee ad-
dressing the use of Iridium for the Fans data transfer within the 
us airspace. This will allow Cargolux to be one of the first airli-
nes to implement the system. 

In 2008, testing has been successfully completed on four air-
planes and the rest of the fleet is being equipped during the 
regular “a” maintenance checks at our facilities. according to 
current estimates, the entire Cargolux fleet will be equipped by 
august 2009. 

The savings Cargolux may realize by flying Fans routes are 
substantial. depending on dominant winds, up to 28 minutes 

CArgolUx And The envIrOnmenT

could be saved on routings between europe and China. The 
estimated annual fuel saving on our luxembourg-hong Kong 
and luxembourg-shanghai routes would amount to over 1,450  
tonnes, based on our current schedule. 

Cargolux will begin flying Fans routings as soon as the civil 
aviation authorities involved have approved the use of Fans 
datalink and Iridium satcom technology. 

fleet renewAl

The most significant reductions in CO2 emissions are planned to 
be achieved through our scheduled fleet renewal program. 

Cargolux is the launch customer for the next-generation Boeing 
747-8F, which is currently being built and is expected to  be ready 
for delivery in the second half of 2010. Cargolux has ordered 13 
aircraft, has options to buy two more, and will be the first airline 
to operate the new type. These 13 aircraft are scheduled to be 
delivered by 2014. as the new 747-8F aircraft join our fleet, our 
current 747-400F fleet will be gradually reduced. 

Boeing predicts fuel savings of 17% per tonne-km flown 
compared to our current aircraft type, the Boeing 747-400F.  
This efficiency increase will lead to an equivalent reduction in 
CO2 emissions deriving from our activities. 

 b) non-flight ACtivitieS

Cargolux’s second largest energy consumption sector concerns 
trucking. around 24 million tonne-km of goods are trucked each 
year, on fleets of trucks that are sub-contracted on a long-term 
basis. The great majority of this trucking activity (92%) takes 
place in europe, where goods are transported between pro-
duction or distribution centers throughout the continent and  
Cargolux’s operational hub in luxembourg. a more limited 
amount of trucking also links Cargolux’s other european flight 
destinations. 

In total, 362 vehicles were regularly used to transport goods 
on behalf of Cargolux, owned by 9 different contract opera-
tors. similarly to Cargolux, these contractors seek to regularly  
improve the fuel-efficiency of their fleets, and have committed 
to further efficiency improvements in coming years. 
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european trucks are categorized according to the amount of 
atmospheric emissions they produce. In January 2009, an 
agreement was reached whereby Cargolux’s trucking contrac-
tors commit to gradually modernizing their fleets, in order to 
achieve a full euro Iv and euro v classed fleet by 2011 (euro v 
being the currently applicable standard for newly built trucks, 
and the most stringent). 

The graph below outlines the development of our contractors’ 
fleets dedicated to Cargolux activities over the coming years. 

CArgolUx And The envIrOnmenT

eUropeAn trUCking fleet 

PrOJeCTed COmPOsITIOn OF 3rd-ParTy FleeT OPeraTInG  
FOr CarGOlux In eurOPe
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ii. noiSe 

The emission of noise is the second most important area of 
environmental concern to Cargolux and all possible efforts are 
made to mitigate the amount of noise produced by our aircraft. 

noise emissions are particularly an issue at Cargolux’s hub 
airport, luxembourg, due to its location in the direct vicinity of 
luxembourg City. Cargolux is responsible for about 16.6% of all 
jet aircraft movements at the airport. On average, 11 Cargolux 
aircraft currently take off and land at luxembourg airport every day. 

Cargolux’s efforts to maintain low noise levels are evidenced 
through:

 the Company’s current fleet and fleet renewal policy;
 current approach and landing practices;
 the Company’s participation in  research efforts in the field 

  of aviation noise, and;
 current efforts at improving noise monitoring, both within 

  the Company and at airport level. 

Cargolux’s efforts are appreciated not only in luxembourg, but 
also at other airports on its network. This is demonstrated for 
instance by the “2007 Fly Quiet award” that was awarded in 
June 2008 to Cargolux by seattle’s seaTaC airport, for its appli-
cation of noise abatement procedures. 

QUiet fleet 

Cargolux has, for many years, sought to produce as little noise 
as possible when operating in and out of luxembourg airport. 
since 1999, our fleet of aircraft is solely composed of one of the 
quietest large cargo aircraft available, the Boeing 747-400F. 
This aircraft produces substantially less noise than its prede-
cessor aircraft, the Boeing 747-200F, which is still operated by 
many other carriers flying into luxembourg. Indeed, the noise 
footprint of a Boeing 747-400F at 85 dBa is only about half as 
long as the equivalent footprint of a Boeing 747-200F. This foot-
print will be significantly reduced with the introduction of the 
747-8F.
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during 2008, Cargolux leased two 747-200F aircraft from a 
third party provider. These flights only represented 4.1% of ta-
ke-offs and landings in luxembourg over the year, or 3 take offs 
and landing per week. This lease agreement was not renewed 
and no 747-200F based operations are planned by Cargolux for 
2009. 

From the second half of 2010 onwards, Cargolux will be the first 
airline worldwide to operate Boeing’s new generation of 747 air-
craft, the Boeing 747-8F. This all-new aircraft will benefit from 
several important technological advances that will reduce its 
noise footprint by a further 30%. This will bring the noise levels 
of the 747-8F to that of many smaller aircraft taking off from 
luxembourg airport. 

The new technologies center on the aircraft’s engine, which 
will feature a new type of 3-d shaped aerodynamic fan blade, 
a seamless air intake that will cause less resonance, as well as 
chevron-shaped exhausts. The combined effect of these fea-
tures, in addition to the larger size of the fan (which therefore 
turns more slowly), will substantially reduce noise levels of the 
aircraft. 

reSponSible operAtionS

Cargolux seeks at all times to observe noise abatement proce-
dures prescribed by all airports where we operate. at luxem-
bourg airport, for example, when landing, our flight crews ap-
ply idle-reverse braking whenever weather conditions allow.  
This method of braking relies on opening thrust reversers wi-
thout applying thrust and using wheel brakes. It is a much quie-
ter way of slowing down the aircraft than the more common full 
thrust reverse method. 

similarly, whenever air traffic and air traffic control restrictions 
allow, Cargolux flight crews apply a continuous descent ap-
proach, which consists in regularly approaching the airport on 
a 3 degree slope from cruising altitude. In contrast to the tradi-
tional stepped approach, the aircraft does not need to maintain 
level flight at low altitude, and thereby does not need to apply 
thrust close to the ground. This results in quieter landings.

UnderStAnding And redUCing AviAtion noiSe 

Over recent years, Cargolux has taken part in several research 
projects focusing on aviation noise in luxembourg. The most 
recent of these, “luxembourg aviation noise”, was underta-
ken by the henry Tudor research Center, funded largely by the 
luxembourg government. This study was completed at the end 

of 2008 and its conclusions were submitted to the luxembourg 
government in november. These proved very valuable in the es-
tablishment of the government’s noise action plan for luxem-
bourg airport. 

The researchers calculated the overall noise levels produced at 
the airport. The noise levels were based on a simulation study 
of the Boeing 747-400F aircraft. In turn, the levels were weigh-
ted according to the topography as well as the population den-
sity surrounding the airport. The objective of the study was to 
determine at what time of the day aircraft movements caused 
the highest amount of nuisance to the largest number of peo-
ple, and to suggest new approach, take-off and scheduling pro-
cedures that would minimize aviation noise nuisances. 

The researchers also developed a tool that may be used by 
Cargolux in order to determine the levels of noise exposure to 
populations surrounding the airport for a given schedule and 
take-off or landing profile.  

dAy-to-dAy monitoring 

luxembourg’s airport administration currently measures the 
noise produced by every aircraft landing or taking off and sub-
mits reports to every airline using the airport. however, due 
to the positioning of the microphones, current measurements 
cannot properly monitor improvements in noise levels that 
would result from a change in operational procedures. 

Cargolux supports the enhancement of this measurement sys-
tem with a view to obtaining more accurate noise data on our 
operations. This would allow us to better monitor the effective-
ness of new operational procedures.

CArgolUx And The envIrOnmenT
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iii. wASte

Cargolux has an interest in ensuring that the waste produced 
by the Company is disposed of properly and recycled where 
possible. Compared to certain heavy industries, the total 
amount of waste produced by an airline is limited. however, it 
remains crucial to ensure that all sensitive substances are pro-
perly treated. 

while the sorting and safe disposal of waste resulting from 
Cargolux’s maintenance activity (oily waste, vOCs, acids) has 
taken place for many years, Cargolux has contracted in 2008 
a new waste disposal Company which manages all waste dis-
posal on the sites and in buildings controlled by Cargolux in 
luxembourg. 

This new service offers several advantages over previous was-
te disposal arrangements. more categories of waste can now 
be sorted and treated. The new service provider offers total 
traceability over how and where the waste is treated, and the 
new scheme extends to the sorting and disposal or recycling 
of office-generated paper and plastics waste, in the buildings 
where this activity is controlled by the Company. 

In recognition of the efforts made by Cargolux in the area of 
waste management, the luxembourg ministry of environment 
awarded Cargolux its “superdreckskëscht fir Betriber” label 
on 18 June 2008. The label is delivered to companies that de-
monstrate exemplary waste management practices, including 
waste avoidance measures, safe and environmentally-friendly 
waste storage, selective collection and a transparent waste re-
cycling and disposal system. This certificate will be subject to 
annual renewal following audits that will verify our adherence 
to these principles. 

annualreport .08
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wASte diSpoSAl by CAtegory, 2008

sITes COnTrOlled By CarGOlux In luxemBOurG

1  recyclable waste includes metals, plastics, wood, glass, paper

2  hazardous waste includes solvents, paints, adhesives, oily sludges,  
chemicals, waste containing heavy metals, batteries, among others

ongoing projeCtS 

reCyCling of pAllet pACking mAteriAlS

air freight also generates waste that is normally managed by 
handling agents. aircraft pallets are usually covered in plastic 
sheeting to protect the cargo from humidity and rain during loa-
ding or offloading. wood is used to spread the weight of very 
dense shipments over the surface of the pallet. 

Our luxembourg-based handling agent, luxair Cargo, handles 
the largest volume of Cargolux freight. In 2008, luxair Cargo 
reported the recycling of an estimated 355 tonnes of Pe plastic 
sheeting used to cover Cargolux pallets, and shredded an esti-
mated 670 tonnes of wood from Cargolux shipments, for re-use 
as heating pellets. 

178,728 kg
hAzArdoUS

wASte2

1,417 kg
otherS

41,429 kg
oily wASte

53,216 kg
reCyClAble wASte1

54,867 kg
reSidUAl wASte
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i. oUr employeeS

 A) CArgolUx’S StAff mAnAgement philoSophy 

at Cargolux we are convinced of the value of hiring staff for the 
long term. Keeping employees for long periods of time allows 
them to reach a high degree of specialization and provides the 
right framework for developing the skills that will allow them to 
efficiently participate in the operation of the airline. 

Cargolux offers a friendly, family-company atmosphere and 
employs its staff on the basis of an advantageous collective 
work agreement, coupled with a standard package of non- 
income based benefits that reach well beyond minimum  
employment requirements in luxembourg. The vast majo-
rity of our employees are hired on the basis of firm, full-time 
contracts, and all office-based staff benefit from a flexible  
working time arrangement. 

Both Cargolux’s staff management philosophy and the wor-
king conditions offered result in a low turnover rate, of 4,3% in 
2008. Cargolux benefits from a balanced spread of age groups 
among its staff, and thereby a healthy mix of experienced and 
developing members. This ensures that specialist knowledge 
is passed on to new generations and contributes to the stable 
growth of the Company. 

StAff tUrnover by CAtegory, 2008 (lUxemboUrg)

men 4.3%
wOmen 4.6%

BelOw 30 yrs 6.1%
30 - 50 yrs 2.4%
>50 yrs 13.2%

sTaFF COvered By COlleCTIve wOrK aGreemenT 87.5%
sTaFF wITh PermanenT COnTraCT 96.4%

Cargolux benefits additionally from the extremely multi-na-
tional and multi-cultural composition of its staff. as many as 
31 different nationalities are represented among the 1,155 
staff members employed in luxembourg, and 51 nationalities 
among the 1,530 persons employed worldwide. This is an im-
portant element, that greatly helps the Company to integrate 
and adapt to cultures and customs throughout the world. 

the SoCiAl dImensIOn

 b)  trAining: developing oUr moSt importAnt 
ASSet – oUr StAff

Training constitutes an important element of the day-to-day 
functioning of all airlines. This is especially true for Cargolux, 
having set itself the objective of featuring among the most effi-
cient airlines in the world. 

Training at Cargolux falls into two categories: 

1. Pilots and mechanics regularly attend courses in order to 
maintain and upgrade their licences and receive training on 
the use of new equipment, technologies or the application of 
new procedures. similarly, ground services employees follow 
courses to be entitled to perform certain functions, such as 
supervise the loading of an aircraft. This type of training is a 
legal requirement.

2. Cargolux also offers various types of training to its office 
staff, so that they can acquire new skills and develop their 
areas of competence and expertise. This type of training 
falls beyond legal requirements and constitutes a voluntary  
action on the part of the Company. 

Training for office staff ranges from ad-hoc, short term cour-
ses to longer-term training programs (for instance, Cargolux  
organizes a management development Program, aimed at  
developing the leadership and personal skills of its middle and 
upper management). It also includes the possibility to under-
take higher education degrees in disciplines of interest to the 
Company. Cargolux offers studying staff members additional 
days off, and reimburses 50% of the tuition fees upon comple-
tion of the degree.

Both types of training contribute to the personal development 
of employees concerned, by giving them skills and levels of 
knowledge that they may not have acquired by working in other 
economic sectors, or even for other airlines. 

In 2008, 957 Cargolux employees received non-compulsory 
training, totaling 11,710 hours. This represents an average of 
7.7 hours per employee. 
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 C)  CAring for the heAlth And SAfety  
of oUr employeeS

Cargolux gives the highest level of importance to the health 
and safety of all its employees. Particular attention is paid to 
our maintenance and ground operations staff; these may be 
exposed to potentially dangerous situations, be it through the 
use of specific machinery or equipment, by coming into contact 
with hazardous substances or due to their activities close to 
the aircraft. It also concerns our flight crews, who are exposed 
to higher levels of cosmic radiation at high altitude. 

Cargolux’s accident statistics refer to all accidents occurring to 
luxembourg-based staff (including all pilots and mechanics). 
however accidents occurring outside luxembourg are also mo-
nitored and preventive actions are discussed and agreed with 
the responsible station manager. 

ACCident freQUenCy
COmPared TO luxemBOurG averaGe and COmPared 
TO luxemBOurG avIaTIOn seC TOr (57 COmPanIes)

 2005 2006 2007 2008

CArgolUx 6.93 7.03 5.7 5.41
luxemBOurG 7.75 7.69 7.01 n/A
avIaTIOn seCTOr 8.21 9.7 8.45 n/A

number of accidents per 100 full-time employee units  
note: the luxembourg accident Insurance association (aaa) pu-
blishes its annual figures in april. 2008 figures could therefore not be 
included in the present report. 

the SoCiAl dImensIOn

giving A helping hAnd throUgh trAining

Cargolux’s training activities also benefit individuals working for other companies throughout the world. due to the specialist knowled-
ge required to supervise the loading and offloading of a Boeing 747-400F, Cargolux provides its own cargo training to employees of 
General handling agents (Gha) working for the airline. These employees travel to a location where this training is provided at Cargolux’s 
expense, and obtain a qualification that can also be used for working with other airlines. 

This arrangement extends to Gha employees who may not directly work on Cargolux aircraft. This little help provided by Cargolux can be 
very valuable, especially in countries where obtaining professional qualifications can represent an economic challenge to large parts 
of the population. In 2008, Cargolux provided training to 304 external persons, many of whom are employees of Ghas working with 
Cargolux throughout the world. These represented 32% of total participation at Cargolux training courses. 

accidents involving Cargolux staff, both at work (internal) and 
while on their way to/from work (external), have traditionally re-
mained at very low levels. Our statistics show that over the past 
10 years, the percentage of internal accidents compared to the 
total number of employees has remained below 4%, which is a 
very good rate for industrial sites. 

nUmber of ACCidentS

 2005 2006 2007 2008

InTernal aCCIdenTs 33 36 41 32
exTernal aCCIdenTs 24 27 11 19
totAl ACCidentS 57 63 52 51

according to luxembourg’s accident Insurance association 
(aaa), Cargolux’s accident frequency rating was situated at 
5.41 in 2008. For the past 10 years, Cargolux’s rating has re-
mained consistently below the average rating of luxembourg 
companies, and also well below the safety rating within luxem-
bourg’s aviation sector (currently counting 57 companies). 

The aaa frequency rating shows the percentage of hours lost 
compared to total available work hours. The rating takes into 
account all accidents where one working hour or more were 
lost and  where external medical treatment was provided to the 
employee.
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prevention progrAmS

Cargolux regularly launches health and safety programs 
aimed at addressing particular concerns. The latest, entitled  
“hazsub”, was launched in 2007 and ran through 2008. Its ob-
jective was to perform a professional risk assessment on the 
use of hazardous substances at the workplace at Cargolux’s 
headquarters in luxembourg. This program was jointly com-
pleted with the cooperation of luxembourg’s ministry of health 
and our Company doctor. 

Its objective was, where possible, to simplify information on 
hazardous substances and to ensure that vital safety and 
health related information is clearly and rapidly understood.  
Over 650 substances have been assessed and classified during 
this project and the information on their material safety data 
sheets was used to write a product information sheet providing 
the most important information on the product in a simplified 
and user-friendly way. In addition, on-site training is provided 
to mechanics and their medical checks are adapted to take 
into account the substances they may enter in contact with.  
as a result of the initiation of this program, a review of all subs-
tances used at Cargolux is performed, resulting in the reduc-
tion, or replacement of a number of dangerous substances. 

The efforts made by Cargolux in 2007 and 2008 on that pro-
ject were recognized by the luxembourg labour Inspectorate 
which represented the european agency for safety and health 
at work. Cargolux obtained a Best Practice award in October 
2008.

another ongoing program, launched by Cargolux in 2006, is 
entitled “0-5”. It focuses on the potential health and safety 
risks that mechanics could be exposed to in their first 5 years 
of activity. Through this program specific training is organized 
on the use of certain types of equipment, to prevent accidents 
that could occur from lack of experience, as well as to ensure a 
safety-oriented approach to the mechanics’ work at all times. 
Cargolux has made this training compulsory for all starting me-
chanics. 14 new mechanics joined the program in 2008.

all machinery and equipment used at Cargolux is subjected to 
both internal and external audits. The recommendations made 
by the external auditors have all been implemented to date.  

2008 also saw the continuation of Cargolux’s latest health and 
safety awareness campaign, launched to attract attention to 
potentially careless or dangerous behaviour, in particular in the 
vicinity of our aircraft. 

ii. oUr relAtionShip with the CommUnity 

 A) CArgolUx’S ApproACh to operAtionAl SAfety 

The safety of Cargolux’s flight operations is, and will always 
remain, Cargolux’s first priority. In order to ensure that the hi-
ghest levels of safety are maintained, a safety management 
system is implemented within Cargolux, through which a care-
ful monitoring of flights and an analysis of potential threats to 
safety are undertaken. 

These activities are backed by a safety reporting system 
functioning under a no-blame policy, whereby employees are 
encouraged to point out any occurrences or safety hazards, in 
the interest of maintaining the highest possible safety level.  
These reports are reviewed regularly by a flight safety commit-
tee. where appropriate, corrective action is undertaken, which 
may be the removal or risk reduction of an identified hazard or 
the organization of training aimed at perfecting specific skills 
or other knowledge. 

The safety system is integrated into the day-to-day functio-
ning of all divisions connected to the operation of our aircraft 
(maintenance, flight and ground operations). It also relies on 
data obtained from a variety of sources, and information to our 
staff, provided through several distinct channels. This ensures 
that all possible threats to the safety of our operations are com-
prehensively taken into consideration and addressed as soon 
as they are identified. 

 b) integrAtion into lUxemboUrg SoCiety

Cargolux is firmly integrated into the luxembourg community 
and is committed to pursuing and developing its contribution to 
the local economy and society. 

eConomiC development 

with 1,155 employees in luxembourg and 1,530 worldwide, 
Cargolux counts among the most important economic actors 
in the country. The Company was listed as the 25th largest 
employer in the country in 2008. Its contribution to the luxem-
bourg economy, in terms of salaries, taxes, landing and han-
dling fees and payments for goods and services, amounted to 
€ 314 million in 2008.  

as an economic actor, however, Cargolux’s contribution to the 
luxembourg economy is far greater. many companies benefit 
directly or indirectly from the airline’s operations in luxem-
bourg. For example, in 2008, Cargolux’s activities represented
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68.2% of all traffic handled at luxair’s Cargo Center, which 
employs close to 1,150 persons (luxair Cargo is Cargolux’s 
handling agent at luxembourg airport). For each new aircraft 
joining our fleet, luxair hires on average up to 40 persons who 
take care of the handling. Cargolux’s activity also provides em-
ployment to freight forwarders and trucking companies, as well 
as other local commercial activities (restaurants and various 
service providers for instance). 

a study published in 2008 by the organization Findel asBl in-
dicated that as many as 4,717 jobs depended directly on the 
activities of the airport and that these activities generated just 
over 1,600 indirect jobs (including over 1,300 jobs created by 
trucking and freight forwarding companies). 

pArtiCipAtion in edUCAtion And reSeArCh

mechanic’s training: since 1979, Cargolux has been an active 
participant in luxembourg’s education system. Together with 
the national passenger carrier luxair and the private secondary 
school lycée Technique Privé emile metz, a partnership was 
concluded which allows secondary school students to become 
fully trained as aircraft mechanics in luxembourg. In 2001, the 
program was expanded and students now obtain an aircraft 
mechanics’ licence conforming to the european aviation safety 
agency regulations, Part 66. 

This curriculum is quite demanding on the part of the students, 
in particular since all teaching material is provided in english, 
the language of the aviation sector, which is not a mother ton-
gue in luxembourg. Following a successful completion of the 
two-year school program and two years of practical training 
at either Cargolux or luxair, the students obtain their licence, 
which is a prerequisite for a full time employment contract. 

In 2008, eight new students were admitted into the program.  
58 students joined the program since 2001 and 31 were hired 
as full-time mechanics at Cargolux.

higher education and research: Cargolux’s most recent par-
ticipation in a research project was the luxembourg aviation 
noise project, mentioned in our section on noise. This project 
is very important to Cargolux, as its results, as well as those of 
possible follow-up studies, will lead to an improvement in the 
quality of our service and to a reduction in nuisances caused to 
communities living around the airport, in particular those living 
in luxembourg City. 

Cargolux plans to actively support further research efforts cen-
tering on air cargo transport and the improvement of air traffic 
at luxembourg airport. 

since autumn 2008, Cargolux is also participating in a research 
project initiated by Boeing, which aims at developing a new 
type of bio-fuel specifically geared towards commercial aviati-
on. This fuel should be derived from plants that do not compete 
with food crops (plants envisaged include certain types of al-
gae or plants able to grow in semi-desertic areas, such as jatro-
pha). This initiative is beneficial both from the environmental 
point of view, since the plants grown for the fuel will participate 
in absorbing some of the CO

2 that will be emitted by aircraft 
consuming it, and from an economic standpoint, by ensuring 
the independence of the aviation industry from highly fluctua-
ting fuel prices. eight airlines besides Cargolux are participa-
ting in this project, representing 15% of worldwide commercial 
aviation jet fuel demand.
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SUpporting non-governmentAl orgAniSAtionS

where possible, Cargolux seeks to assist luxembourg-based 
non-governmental organizations in the implementation of va-
rious projects. 

In 2007 a multi-annual partnership was initiated with the nGO 
“hëllef fir d’natur”, which works towards the preservation of 
wildlife and nature throughout the country. Our yearly financial 
donation supports the efforts of this organization to maintain 
and develop the equipment of a nature reserve located at the 
foot of the plateau on which luxembourg airport is situated. 

These wetlands provide a very specific environment that allows 
various species of migratory birds to nest and reproduce, du-
ring a break on their long journey between northern europe and 
the mediterranean or africa. Birds from as many as 87 different 
species have been ringed at this reserve, 84 of which are mi-
gratory. This allows scientists to track their progress and better 
understand the birds’ migratory patterns. 

many of these birds would not be able to reproduce at all if the-
se wetlands had not been preserved by this association. The 
reserve is also located sufficiently far away from the airport 
that neither the birds nor aircraft operations face any risk from 
one another. 

Occasionally Cargolux also supported other luxembourg-
based nGOs in 2008, including the Kiwanis association, which 
provides psychological support to children staying at hospital, 
the luxembourg red Cross and ZaZ, which supports children 
struck with diabetes. 

SUpporting lUxemboUrg’S CUltUrAl  
And SportS SeCtorS

since its earliest days, Cargolux has sought to support both 
luxembourg’s cultural and sports activities: whether luxem-
bourg sportsmen or musicians performing abroad, or luxem-
bourg artists exhibiting at museums overseas. This support 
also extends to cultural and sports activities in luxembourg. 

In 2008, Cargolux has pursued its partnership with luxem-
bourg’s modern art museum (mudam), which was first initiated 
in 2004. Cargolux transports works of art on behalf of mudam 
that are on loan from museums and collectors worldwide, and 
that become part of themed temporary exhibitions at the mu-

the SoCiAl dImensIOn

seum. In 2008, Cargolux supported five different exhibitions 
through free of charge transports and also transported goods 
for the permanent collection of the museum

Cargolux similarly supports sports activities in luxembourg. 
On the occasion of the Olympic games in Beijing, Cargolux flew 
the equipment of the 12 sportsmen of the luxembourg team to 
Beijing and back. Over 2008, Cargolux has also sponsored va-
rious luxembourg sports teams and events, focusing on youth 
teams, with a view to supporting young sportspeople and their 
efforts towards achieving international recognition.  

since 2008, Cargolux is also actively involved in the organi-
zation of luxembourg’s pavilion at the shanghai expo 2010. 
This is a major undertaking where Cargolux will help represent 
luxembourg’s image to a global audience.  

flying helpS! 

when providing assistance to non-governmental organizations, 
sportspeople and artists, Cargolux helps, where possible, by 
doing what it knows best: flying cargo. Cargo transport consti-
tutes a substantial part of the budget of a humanitarian, sports 
or artistic project, in particular if goods need to be transported 
between continents. Cargolux’s help often tips the balance to-
wards its successful completion. 

Transport is provided on a stand-by basis, according to space 
availability on our flights. 
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 c) Social contributionS, WorlDWiDe

Cargolux has a long-standing tradition of supporting local and 
international relief organizations, not only in times of crisis or 
natural disaster, but on a regular basis. In order to play its part 
in helping countries and people, Cargolux has flown relief goods 
to those who urgently need them. Most of these shipments are 
carried free-of-charge on a stand-by basis. 

In 2008, Cargolux has carried goods to various destinations in 
africa, including Chad, Tanzania, South africa, Togo, the Ivory 
Coast, the Democratic Republic of Congo, nigeria and Burkina 
Faso. Other shipments were flown to destinations in India and 
Ecuador. 

These shipments contain items ranging from clothing, toys, 
books and school supplies to medical equipment, wheelchairs, 
medication and even bicycles and second-hand computers. 
They are collected by a number of organizations and mostly 
trucked to luxembourg where they are fed into Cargolux’s 
worldwide network. 23 shipments were transported free of 
charge for humanitarian purposes in 2008. 

But the Company’s support does not end here. all year round, 
the Cargolux staff collects relief items, either at its headquar-
ters or at its worldwide stations, to add to one of the charity 
organizations’ shipments or to arrange for a separate Cargolux 
charity shipment for the benefit of children and adults in 
need. Cargolux staff also packs the boxes, gets the necessary  
paperwork done and brings the goods to the Cargo Center in 
luxembourg, where they are palletized. Cargolux offices at the 
destinations ensure customs clearance and onward distribu-
tion to local organizations.

Helping tHe cHilDren of cHennai, inDia

Both Cargolux and its employees have been engaged in a long-
term commitment to help the disadvantaged children under the 
care of a number of organizations in Chennai, India. 

For many years, Cargolux has been helping three institutions 
in particular, the St Thomas Hospital, which specializes in trea-
ting children struck by cancer and leukemia, the Shishu Bhavan 
orphanage, run by the Sisters of Mother Theresa, which houses 
about 100 abandoned children of all ages, and the Cheshire 
Home for physically handicapped children. 

tHe Social DIMEnSIOn

This help is coordinated locally through a local nGO, lIFE 
(luxembourg India Friendship Endeavour) , which is also invol-
ved in vocational training of the physically challenged women 
from the tsunami villages and educational and medical care for 
abandoned children. One of the organizers of lIFE is Cargolux’s 
Country Manager for India. 

Cargolux’s contribution consists partly in direct financial sup-
port from the Company, as well as in voluntary contributions 
and donations of clothing, medication and medical equipment, 
school items and toys collected by Cargolux’s crew and staff-
members. Over time this solidarity action has become known 
outside the Company and Cargolux has been receiving additio-
nal donations from many individuals throughout luxembourg. 

In 2008, Cargolux suspended flights to India, as a result of 
which Cargolux and its employees could only help lIFE with 
financial donations. These are now being used for waterproo-
fing the roof and renovating the sanitary installations of the 
vocational center, to improve access to handicapped persons.  
Part of the donations will also be used for supplying medicines 
to a home for the elderly, that lIFE also supports, in the nilgiris 
mountains. 
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report StrUCtUre, CriteriA And SeleCtion of iSSUeS

This is Cargolux’s first Corporate social responsibility report. 
Its elaboration was based on an analysis of the Company’s 
main impacts and responsibilities, both as regards the environ-
ment and society, and on the concerns raised by key groups of 
stakeholders regarding these topics. stakeholder groups were 
identified on the basis of the nature and geographical location 
of our activities. an ongoing dialogue takes place with these 
groups, through public meetings, direct representation or via 
the media. regular meetings also take place between Cargolux 
top management and its employees, which include open ques-
tions and answer sessions

These groups include our shareholders, employees, customers, 
investors and suppliers. They also include the communities po-
tentially affected by our activities, primarily living around the 
airport of luxembourg (our main operational hub), as well as 
government and local authorities, national representations, in-
dustrial representations and non-governmental organizations 
and auditing bodies. 

This report is based on the guidelines of the 
Global reporting Initiative (GrI), an inter-
national organization that provides global 
standards for reporting on sustainability.  
we believe that our report meets level C+ of 
the GrI G3 guidelines of 2006. however, being 

a global transportation company, we felt the necessity to go 
beyond and report on areas that are of concern to the Company 
but not entirely covered by the current version of the guidelines 
(noise-related issues, for instance).

The report covers key topics identified by the Company’s Code 
of Business Conduct and ethics, adopted in 2007, and its envi-
ronmental Policy, adopted in march 2009. 

Cargolux plans to review and further refine its sustainability 
reporting process in the coming years, and in particular to mo-
nitor the relevance of each topic covered. where necessary or 
advisable, the Company plans to add further reporting indica-
tors and to collect corresponding data. 

reporting proCeSS and GrI

reporting boUndArieS

This report aims to cover the entire operations and geographical 
coverage of the Company, except where specified in the report. 
Certain indicators cover only our luxembourg-based activities. 
These include figures relating to waste disposal, Cargolux’s 
employees and health and safety-related data. It does not co-
ver the activities of separate legal entities entirely or partially 
owned by the Company.

externAl ASSUrAnCe

Cargolux asked KPmG to provide limited assurance on the envi-
ronmental and social chapters of this report (pages 27 to 46). 
however, the information and data published was collected by 
Cargolux and is presented entirely under the Company’s res-
ponsibility. KPmG’s assurance report can be found on page 47. 
where possible Cargolux acts upon recommendations made by 
KPmG in order to improve its reporting process.

ContACt

Cargolux invites all interested parties to enter into dialogue 
with us about our sustainability policy, activities and about this 
report. Our policy, as well as further information on our activi-
ties, can be found on our web site at 

http://www.cargolux.com/sustainability/

all comments and enquires are welcome and can be forwarded 
to us through the contact form available on our web site, or by 
writing to sustainability@cargolux.com.
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gri IndICaTOrs

g3 indiCAtorS CArgolUx AnnUAl report 2008 

1 StrAtegy & AnAlySiS

1.1 statement from the most senior decision maker  
of the organization about the relevance of sustainability to 
the organization and its strategy.

p. 9

1.2 not required for C level

2 orgAnizAtionAl profile

2.1 name of organisation. Cargolux airlines International s.a.

2.2 Primary brands, products and/or services. long-range transport of goods by air

2.3 Operational structure of the organization. main company divisions: Flight Operations, sales,  
marketing & Ground services, Finance & administration,  
maintenance & engineering, human resources,  
Corporate services

2.4 location of organization’s headquarter. luxembourg  

2.5 number of countries where the organization operates. 51 countries

2.6 nature of ownership and legal form. société anonyme

2.7 markets served. Cargolux provide air freight transport services to freight  
forwarders in most parts of the world through scheduled  
and charter flights.  
This includes the regular transportation of supply-chain goods, 
finished commodities, project cargo, perishables, temperature  
and shock-sensitive goods and live animals, among others

2.8 scale of the reporting organization. p. 11

2.9 significant changes. none 

2.10 awards received. - 2008 all Cargo airline of the year (air Cargo news)
- 2008 award of excellence (air Cargo world)
- 2008 Best all-Cargo airline in spain (Inter-Transport)
- Fly Quiet award 2007 (seattle airport)
-  laureate european health and safety week (luxembourg)

3 report pArAmeterS

3.1 reporting period. Calendar year 2008

3.2 date previous report. First report

3.3 reporting cycle. annual

3.4 Contact point. Cargolux sustainability and environment services,
e-mail: sustainability@cargolux.com

3.5-3.8 reporting Process & GrI, p. 44

3.10 explanation of the effect of any re-statements. none

3.11 significant changes from previous reporting. First report, integrated into annual report

3.12 Table standard disclosures. p. 45

3.9, 3.13 not required for C level
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G3 IndIcators carGolux annual report 2008 

4. Governance

4.1 Governance structure of the organization. p. 13

4.2 Indicate whether the Chair of the highest governance 
body is also an executive officer.

no

4.3 number of members of the highest governance body.  10

4.4, 4.14, 4.15 Reporting Process and GRI, p. 44

4.5-4.13, 4.16, 4.17 not required for C level 

economIc performance IndIcators

EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed, 
including revenues, operating costs, employee  
compensation, donations and other Company  
investments retained earnings, and payments to capital 
providers and governement.

p. 53-83

EC2-EC8 not reported

envIronmental performance IndIcators

En3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. p. 30

En5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 
improvements.

p. 29-32

En16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions 
by weight.

p. 30

En18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions  
and reductions achieved. 

p. 29-32

En22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method. p. 35

En 1, 2, 4, 6-15, 17, 19-21, 23-28 not reported

socIal performance IndIcators

la1 Total workforce by employment type, employment 
contract, and region.

p. 38

la2 Total number and rate of employee turnover by age 
group, gender, and region.

p. 38

la4 Percentage of employees covered by collective bar-
gaining agreements.

p. 38

la7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
absenteeism, and number of work related fatalities by region.

p. 39

la10 average hours of training per year per employee  
by employee category.

p. 38

la 3, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11-14 not reported

HR1-HR7 not reported

SO1-SO8 not reported

PR1-PR9 not reported
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independent ASSUrAnCe rePOrT

To the readers of the Cargolux annual report 2008. 

we report on the information provided in the environment chapter and social chapter of the 2008 annual report (further referred to as 
“environment and social chapters”) of Cargolux airlines International s.a. (“the Company” or “Cargolux”) for the year ended december 
31, 2008 as set out on pages 27 to 46. The preparation and presentation of environment and social chapters including the identification 
of material environmental and social issues, in accordance with the sustainability performance reporting criteria applied by the Com-
pany is the responsibility of the Company’s management. environment and social chapters include both quantitative and qualitative 
information. Our responsibility is to independently express a conclusion about the information provided in environment and social 
chapters and to report that conclusion to you.

whAt wAS inClUded in the SCope of oUr limited ASSUrAnCe engAgement?   

Our engagement was designed to provide limited assurance on whether the information in environment and social chapters does not 
appear to be unfairly stated based on sustainability performance reporting criteria applied by the Company.

Procedures performed to obtain a limited level of assurance are aimed at determining the plausibility of information provided in en-
vironment and social chapters. To obtain a thorough understanding of the financial results and financial position of the Company, the 
reader should consult the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended december 31, 2008.

supplementary information included in the 2008 annual report of the Company has been reviewed in the context of our mandate but 
has not been subject to specific procedures carried out in accordance with the assurance standard described below. Consequently, 
we express no opinion on such information. however, we have no observation to make concerning such information in the context of 
environment and social chapters taken as a whole. 

whiCh reporting CriteriA did CArgolUx USe?    

Cargolux applies its own sustainability performance reporting criteria, derived from the G3 sustainability reporting Guidelines of the 
Global reporting Initiative as detailed on pages 44 to 46. we believe that these criteria are suitable in view of the purpose of our limited 
assurance engagement as they are criteria established by the Global reporting Initiative.   

whiCh ASSUrAnCe StAndArd did we USe?   

we carried out our engagement in accordance with the International standard on assurance engagements other than audits or reviews 
of historical financial information (Isae 3000) as adopted by the Institut des réviseurs d’entreprises. This standard requires, amongst 
others, that the assurance team possesses the specific knowledge, skills and professional competencies needed to understand and 
review the information in environment and social chapters, and that they comply with the requirements of the IFaC Code of ethics for 
Professional accountants to ensure their independence.
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whAt did we do to reACh oUr ConClUSionS?     

To determine whether the information in environment and social chapters does not appear to be unfairly stated we:  

  performed a media analysis and internet search to obtain information on relevant sustainability issues for the Company during the 
year ended december 31, 2008;

  reviewed the corporate level systems and processes for information management, internal control and processing of the qualita-
tive and quantitative information in environment and social chapters;

  interviewed relevant staff at corporate level in luxembourg responsible for the reported information as for example: environmental 
policy, fuel consumption, CO2 emissions, human resources and training, health and safety, flight operations;

  collected and reviewed internal and external documentation to determine whether the qualitative and quantitative information in 
environment and social chapters is supported by sufficient evidence.

we did not perform all the work that would ordinarily be performed in a reasonable assurance engagement and therefore less assurance 
was obtained than in a reasonable assurance engagement.

whAt Are oUr ConClUSionS? 

Based on the above work we conclude that the information in the environment and social chapters as set out on pages 27 to 46 of the 
Cargolux annual report 2008 of Cargolux airlines International s.a. for the year ended december 31, 2008 does not appear to be un-
fairly stated based on sustainability performance reporting criteria applied by the Company.

whAt elSe did we obServe?  

without affecting the conclusions presented above, we would like to draw readers’ attention to the following:

This is the first environmental and social report of Cargolux. we recommend them to further develop their environmental and social 
management and reporting by, among others:

  incorporating existing social and environmental initiatives and policies into a formal strategy to ensure continuous improvement 
in performance and a basis for future reporting; 

  considering the review of the current Code of Business Conduct and ethics approved early 2007, with a view to incorporating addi-
tional requirements introduced by Cargolux signing-up to un Global Compact at the end of 2007;

  further expanding its environmental indicators to include other material emissions to air such as sO2, nOx. 

luxembourg, april 3, 2009

kpmg AdviSory S à r.l.  kpmg AUdit S à r.l.

erIC COllard ThIerry ravasIO
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report on the consolidated financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cargolux airlines international s.a., which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet as at december 31,2008 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes as set out on pages 53 to 83.

board of direCtors’ responsibility for the Consolidated finanCial statements 
the board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in ac-
cordance with international financial reporting standards as adopted by the european union. this responsibility includes: desi-
gning, implementing and maintaining internai control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due ta fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

responsibility of the réviseur d’entreprises
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with international standards on auditing as adopted by the institut des réviseurs d’entreprises. those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the conso-
lidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. the procedures selected depend on the judgement of the réviseur d’entreprises, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the 
réviseur d’entreprises considers internai control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internai control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the board of directors, as well as evaluating the overall pre-
sentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

opinion 
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 53 to 83 give a true and fair view of the consolidated finan-
cial position of Cargolux airlines international s.a. as of december 31, 2008, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with international financial reporting standards as adopted by the 
european union. 

report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

the directors’ report, which is the responsibility of the board of directors, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 

luxembourg, april 1, 2009 
Kpmg audit s.à r.l.  
réviseurs d’entreprises

thierry ravasio

Consolidated finanCial statements 

report of the réviseur d’entreprises

to the shareholders of Cargolux airlines international s.a. 
luxembourg airport l-2990 luxembourg

Kpmg audit s.à r.l.
9, allée scheffer 

l-2520 luxembourg
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ifrs finanCial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended deCember 31, 2008

notes  2008 us$ 2007 us$

6 revenues 1,983,212,241 1,679,699,828

7 other operating inCome 1,462,762 3,221,301

8 airCraft lease expenses (78,704,596) (136,513,105)

9 airCraft maintenanCe expenses (101,832,284) (94,443,909)

10 other airCraft expenses (3,139,017) (3,460,481)

15 depreCiation expenses (56,185,327) (43,507,646)

 fuel (934,073,954) (627,332,407)

11 personnel Costs and benefits  (213,980,008) (196,474,618)

 handling, landing and overflying  (270,923,840) (250,977,781)

 truCKing, reforWarding and truCK handling   (116,753,927) (109,137,726)

12 other operating expenses (195,256,241) (254,108,438)

 operating profit / (loss) before financing costs 13,825,809 (33,034,982)

 finanCial inCome 9,340,744 11,594,163

 finanCial expenses (49,895,883) (29,724,295)

13 net finance costs (40,555,139) (18,130,132)

 share of profit of assoCiates 3,784,047 1,628,172

 loss before tax (22,945,283) (49,536,942)

14 Current tax  (3,090,294) (8,519,199)

14 deferred tax  (35,007,834) 10,956,979

 loss for the year (61,043,411) (47,099,162)
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at deCember 31, 2008

notes  2008 us$ 2007 us$ *

 assets  

15 airCraft and equipment 923,222,712 757,995,930
15 other property, plant and equipment 180,809,944 99,694,827
 derivative assets 23,943,816 11,353,120
16 investments in assoCiates 35,482,855 33,598,269
 deposits With third parties 53,979,408 27,108,614
17 deferred tax assets 135,618,567 129,564,926
 total non-Current assets 1,353,057,302 1,059,315,686
 expendable parts and supplies 21,931,644 20,454,352
18 trade reCeivables and other reCeivables 350,277,232 365,763,510
19 other investments 88,199,884 72,619,573
20 Cash and Cash equivalents 103,792,431 94,594,174
 total Current assets 564,201,191 553,431,609
 total  assets 1,917,258,493 1,612,747,295

 equity  

21 issued Capital 360,018,000 360,018,000
 share premium 5,845,691 5,845,691
 reserves 124,610,278 206,546,301
 retained earnings 24,808,674 90,707,836
 loss for the year (61,043,411) (47,099,162)
 total equity 454,239,232 616,018,666

 liabilities  

22 interest-bearing loans and borroWings 54,054,263 107,092,499
22 finanCe lease liabilities 501,098,781 355,919,118
23 employee benefits 11,679,630 12,881,111
 derivative liabilities 148,505,501 22,587,273
24 provisions 238,369,490 177,021,182
 total non-Current liabilities 953,707,665 675,501,183
22 interest-bearing loans and borroWings 172,279,164 26,773,132
22 finanCe lease liabilities 71,554,669 45,675,176
20 banK overdrafts 1,720,688 295,518
25 trade payables and other payables 234,700,085 227,503,580
24 provisions 22,908,824 10,228,958
 taxes payable 6,148,166 10,751,082
 total Current liabilities 509,311,596 321,227,446
 total liabilities 1,463,019,261 996,728,629
 total equity and liabilities 1,917,258,493 1,612,747,295

* as reclassified – see Note 2  
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended deCember 31, 2008

notes  2008 us$ 2007 us$

 cash flow from operating activities  

 loss for the year (61,043,411) (47,099,162)
 adjustments for  
15 depreCiation  56,185,327 43,507,646
 unrealized foreign exChange losses/(gains)  3,244,244 (1,237,079)
13 net finanCe Costs 40,555,139 18,130,132
 share of profit of assoCiates (3,784,047) (1,628,172)
7 gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (72,815) (1,957,611)
5 fuel hedging 17,515,378 (14,266,525)
24 Change in provisions 84,955,877 178,765,493
14 tax expense/(inCome) 38,098,129 (2,437,780)
24 use of provision           (13,795,341)       (16,239,201)
 operating Cash floW before Changes in WorKing Capital  161,858,480 155,537,741
 Change in WorKing Capital (31,673,494) (85,531,458)

 cash generated from the operations 130,184,986 70,006,283

 inCome tax paid (12,083,317) (6,691,422)
 interest paid (30,090,829) (21,797,830)
 net Cash from operating aCtivities 88,010,840 41,517,031

 cash flow from investing activities  

15 aCquisition of property, plant and equipment (143,371,121) (64,094,496)
 aCquisition of assoCiates (143,038) (15,243,462)
 aCquisition of other investments (45,679,735) (33,751,842)
 dividends from assoCiates 799,068 -
 interest reCeived 8,481,012 8,605,271
 reimbursement of advanCe payments 41,329,100 35,303,850
 proCeeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 29,056 130,972,958
 proCeeds from sale of other investments 27,710,206 12,720,077
 deposits With third parties (17,572,221) (10,485,269)
 net Cash (used in) /  from investing aCtivities (128,417,673) 64,027,087

 cash flow from financing activities  

 repayment of borroWings (13,630,167) (59,161,600)
 repayment of finanCe lease liabilities (44,915,196) (27,352,279)
 proCeeds from borroWings 106,725,283 -
 net Cash from / (used in) finanCing aCtivities 48,179,920 (86,513,879)
 net inCrease in Cash and Cash equivalents 7,773,087 19,030,239
 Cash and Cash equivalents at january 1 94,298,656 75,268,417
20 cash and cash equivalents at  december 31 102,071,743 94,298,656
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended deCember 31, 2008

in us$ issued 
capital

share  
premium

NoN distri­
butable  
reserve

Free  
reserve

CurreNCy  
traNslatioN  

reserve 

HedgiNg  
reserve

total  
reserves

retained  
earnings

total  
equity

balance as of  
december 31, 2006

360,018,000 5,845,691 78,871,800 57,000,000 (296,766) (2,104,756) 133,470,278 167,207,836 666,541,805

alloCatioN to  
restriCted reserve

- - 16,500,000   ­   ­ ­ 16,500,000 (16,500,000) -

alloCatioN to  
Free reserve

- - ­ 60,000,000 ­ ­ 60,000,000 (60,000,000) -

CurreNCy traNslatioN  
adjustmeNt

- - ­ ­ 3,421,014 ­ 3,421,014 - 3,421,014

eFFeCtive portioN  
oF CHaNges iN Fair value 
oF CasH Flow Hedges, 
Net oF tax

- - ­ ­ ­ (6,844,991) (6,844,991) - (6,844,991)

loss For 2007 - - ­ ­ ­ ­ - (47,099,162) (47,099,162)

total reCogNized  
iNCome aNd expeNse

- - ­ ­ 3,421,014 (6,844,991) (3,423,977) (47,099,162) (50,523,139)

balance as of  
december 31, 2007

360,018,000 5,845,691 95,371,800 117,000,000 3,124,248 (8,949,747) 206,546,301 43,608,674 616,018,666

alloCatioN to  
restriCted reserve

- - 18,800,000      ­   ­ ­ 18,800,000 (18,800,000) -

alloCatioN to  
Free reserve

- - ­ ­ ­ ­ - - -

CurreNCy traNslatioN  
adjustmeNt

- - ­ ­ (1,391,333) ­ (1,391,333) - (1,391,333)

eFFeCtive portioN  
oF CHaNges iN Fair value 
oF CasH Flow Hedges, 
Net oF tax

- - ­ ­ ­ (99,344,690) (99,344,690) - (99,344,690)

loss For 2008 - - ­ ­ ­ ­ - (61,043,411) (61,043,411)

total reCogNized  
iNCome aNd expeNse

- - ­ ­ (1,391,333) (99,344,690) (100,736,023) (61,043,411) (161,779,434)

balance as of  
december 31, 2008

360,018,000 5,845,691 114,171,800 117,000,000 1,732,915 (108,294,437) 124,610,278 (36,234,737) 454,239,232
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notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
as of deCember 31, 2008

1. reporting entity

the parent company, Cargolux airlines international s.a. (the 
«Company» or “Cargolux”), was incorporated on march 4, 
1970 and is registered as a «société anonyme» under the 
laws of the grand duchy of luxembourg. the Company is an all 
cargo airline. it also provides self and third party maintenance 
services at its luxembourg headquarters. as at the balance 
sheet date, operations outside of luxembourg that relate 
to the Company’s core business are conducted solely under 
branch offices. as at the balance sheet date the Company 
maintained branches in 35 countries.

the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended december 31, 2008, comprise the Company and 
its subsidiary, Cargolux re s.a. (together referred to as the 
“group”) and the group’s interest in associates.

2. basis of preparation

 (a) statement of compliance

the group prepares its financial statements under international 
financial reporting standards (“ifrs”) as adopted by the eu.

the board of directors approved the financial statements for 
the year ended december 31, 2008 on march 23, 2009 and 
authorized the publication of said financial statements on 
april 22, 2009, following confirmation by the shareholders 
thereof on that date.

 (b) basis of measurement 

the financial statements are presented in united states dollars 
(«us dollars» or «us$»), which is the group’s functional cur-
rency. assets and liabilities are stated at their historical cost 
as at the date of acquisition or incurrence except that the fol-
lowing are stated at their fair value at the balance sheet date: 
derivative financial instruments and financial instruments. the 
methods used to determine fair value are discussed in note 4.

 (c) use of estimates and judgments

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
ifrs requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting po-
licies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. 

the estimates and related assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors: these estimates and related 
assumptions are believed to be reasonable under the circumstan-
ces and on their basis judgments about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that can not readily be derived from other sources 
are made. actual results may differ from these estimates. 

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are re-
cognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

judgments made by management in the application of ifrs 
that have significant effect on the financial statements are 
discussed in note 31.

 (d) reclassification

Consistently with the presentation of the non-current portion 
of derivative assets and liabilities in 2008, the 2007 compa-
ratives have been reclassified.

 

3. significant accounting policies

except for the early adoption of ias 23 ‘borrowing costs’ (re-
vised) that has been applied on qualifying assets for which the 
commencement date is after january 1, 2008, the accounting 
policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements.

 (a) basis of consolidation

(i) subsidiaries
Companies in which the group exercises exclusive control 
are fully consolidated. Control exists when the group has 
the power directly or indirectly to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
the entity’s activities. in assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable (e.g. under option agree-
ments) are taken into account. the financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the date that control commences until the date 
that control ceases. 

(ii) associates  
associates are those entities in which the group has signi-
ficant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
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operating policies. the consolidated financial statements 
include the group’s share of the total recognized gains and 
losses of associates on an equity accounted basis, from 
the date that significant influence commences until the 
date that significant influence ceases. typically associa-
tes where the Company controls 20% or more of the equity 
but does not exercise control are equity accounted. When 
the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity 
accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest 
(including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and 
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to 
the extent that the group has an obligation to make pay-
ments or has made payments on behalf of that investee. 

(iii) transactions eliminated on consolidation
intragroup balances and any unrealized gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions 
with fully consolidated entities are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. 

unrealized gains and losses arising from transactions with 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest 
in the associate.

(iv) special purpose entities
the group has established a number of special purpose en-
tities (spes) for aircraft financing purposes. generally the 
group does not have any direct or indirect shareholding in 
these entities. an spe is consolidated if, based on an evalua-
tion of the substance of its relationship with the group and 
the spes’ risks and rewards with respect of the asset in its 
balance sheet, the group concludes that it controls the spes. 
spes controlled by the group are always established under 
terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making 
powers of the spes’ management and that result in the group 
receiving all of the benefits related to the spes’ operations 
and net assets.

 (b) foreign currency

(i) foreign currency transactions
transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency of the group at the foreign exchange rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rates applicable 
at the balance sheet date. the foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary items is the difference between the value of the item 

expressed in the functional currency at the beginning of the pe-
riod and the value of the item expressed in functional currency 
at the end of the period, using for translation purposes the 
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the year. the year-end 
value reflects, if and as applicable, amortization, payments 
and interest accruals effected during the period. non-mone-
tary assets and liabilities that are stated at historical cost less 
amortization are translated into functional currency using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. non-monetary as-
sets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
stated at fair value are translated into functional currency at 
foreign exchange rates applicable at the date the fair value is 
determined. foreign exchange differences arising on transla-
tion are recognized in the income statement.

(ii) financial statements of foreign operations
the assets and liabilities of entities controlled by the group 
that have a functional currency other than the us dollar (‘fo-
reign operations”) are translated into us dollar at foreign ex-
change rates applicable at the balance sheet date. the rule 
also applies to goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
consolidation of foreign operations. the revenues and expen-
ses of foreign operations are translated into us dollar at rates 
applicable at the dates of the transactions. foreign exchange 
differences arising on retranslation are recognized directly in 
a separate component of equity.

 (c) derivative financial instruments 

the group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to the fluctuation in exchange rates, interest rates 
and fuel prices arising from operational and financing acti-
vities. in accordance with its hedging policy, the group does 
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
purposes. however, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are treated as trading instruments.

the gain or loss in the fair value of the derivative financial ins-
trument is recognized immediately in the income statement 
unless the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting, in which 
case the effective part of the derivative financial instrument 
is recognized directly in equity.  any gain or loss with respect 
to the ineffective part of hedge accounted instruments (as 
are gains or losses on trading instruments) is recognized in 
the income statement.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instru-
ment expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer 

ifrs finanCial statements

notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
as of deCember 31, 2008

1275_CargoLux_08_début 11-03-09 Fred_L8.indd   58 14/04/09   11:51:01



annualreport .08

59

ifrs finanCial statements

notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
as of deCember 31, 2008

qualifies for hedge accounting. at that time, any cumulative 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity 
is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. 
if a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net 
cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity is transferred to 
net profit or loss for the period.

 (d) property, plant and equipment

(i) aircraft and equipment
b747-400f aircraft (including installed engines) and rotable 
spare parts (including spare engines) are stated at cost, ad-
justed for any impairment, less accumulated depreciation.

borrowing costs related to the acquisition of an aircraft are 
capitalized as part of the cost of this aircraft.

the initial cost of the aircraft includes the first “d-check” as 
a separate component. the costs of subsequent “d-checks” 
are capitalized when the first “d-check” (or second or third 
“d-check”, as the case may be) occurs and the capitalized 
“d-check” is depreciated over the period to the next schedu-
led “d-check”. the period of depreciation of “d-checks” is set 
forth in (v) below.

(ii) other property, plant and equipment
other items of property, plant and equipment are also stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note (v)) and im-
pairment, if applicable (on which see note 3 (j)).

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items of property, plant and equipment (see note (v)).

(iii) leased assets
1) finance leases: 
leases under the terms of which the group assumes substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. the assets acquired by way of finance leases 
are recognized as non-current assets and are stated at an 
amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present 
value of the minimum future lease payments at inception of 
the lease, less accumulated depreciation (see note (v)) and 
impairment, if any (on which see note 3 (j)). the related liabi-
lity is included under Finance lease liabilities.

2) operating leases:
leases under the terms of which the group does not assume 
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 

leases and are not carried on the group’s balance sheet. the 
net present value of future lease payments under operating 
leases is disclosed in the notes to these financial statements 
(see note 26 below).

in the context of sale and operating leaseback transactions, 
the related gains are accounted for as follows: 

  they are immediately recognized as income when the 
transaction is realized at fair market value,

  they are deferred and amortized over the lease term when 
the transaction is realized under or over the fair value.

in the context of sale and finance leaseback transactions, 
any gain on the sale is deferred and recognized as finance 
income over the lease term. no loss is recognized unless the 
asset is impaired.

(iv) subsequent costs 
the group outsources the major aircraft overhaul «C» and «d-
checks», as well as the maintenance and repairs of engines to 
outside contractors. the cost related to line maintenance and 
«a-checks» performed in luxembourg are expensed when in-
curred under various line items in the income statement. 

(v) depreciation 
depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component 
or part of aircraft and other property, plant and equipment. 
the estimated useful lives and residual values of relevant as-
sets are as follows:   

 useful life residual value

airCraft Components:
airframe 20 years 15% of initial Cost
engines 12 years 10% of initial Cost
1st “d-CheCK”   8 years  nil
subsequent “d-CheCKs”    6 years  nil
rotable spare parts 10 years nil

equipment:  5 years nil

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed periodically as circumstances warrant. deprecia-
tion is discontinued when the carrying amount of the asset is 
below its residual value (see note 15 below). 
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 (e)  investments in subsidiaries  
and associates

subsidiaries and associates are accounted for in accordance 
with the basis for consolidation (see note 3 (a)).

 (f) investments

treasury instruments held for investment are carried at fair 
value with variations in value flowing through the income 
statement. these assets are classified as current assets in 
Other investments. related transaction costs are expensed 
when incurred.

financial instruments are recognized / derecognized by the 
group on the date it commits to purchase / sell the invest-
ments. 

 (g) trade and other receivables 

trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less im-
pairment (on which see note 3 (j)).

 (h) expendable parts and supplies

expendable parts and supplies are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. inventories are carried on a first-in-
first-out basis. net realizable value is the estimated market 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated sales 
costs. expendable parts and supplies are charged to Aircraft 
maintenance expenses when used.

 (i) cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call and short 
term deposits and shares in money market funds. bank over-
drafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part 
of the group’s cash management are included as a component of 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows.

 (j) impairment 

(i) non-financial assets
the carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other 
than expendable parts and supplies (on which see note 3 (h) 
above) and deferred tax assets (on which see note 3 (q)), are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether the-
re is any indication of impairment. if any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and the carrying 
value adjusted accordingly. 

impairment is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. impairment losses are 
recognized in the income statement.

Calculation of recoverable amount:
the recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair 
value (less costs to sell) and value in use. in assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cur-
rent market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

in respect of other assets, impairment is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recove-
rable amount. impairment is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortization, if no impairment had been recognized.

(ii) financial assets
a financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to deter-
mine whether there is any objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired. a financial asset is considered to be impaired if objec-
tive evidence indicates that one or more events have had a ne-
gative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

an impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows. an impairment loss in respect of an available-for-
sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value.

significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an 
individual basis. the remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characte-
ristics.

all impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. any cu-
mulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial as-
set recognized previously in equity is transferred to profit or 
loss, when impaired. 

an impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognized. for financial assets measured at amortized 
cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt se-
curities, the reversal is recognized in profit or loss. for availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the 
reversal is recognized directly in equity.

ifrs finanCial statements
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 (k) interest-bearing liabilities 

interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at principal 
amount less related transaction costs. subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are stated at amorti-
zed amount using the effective interest rate method.

 (l) employee benefits

retirement benefit costs
the group maintains defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension schemes for its luxembourg based employees.

premiums paid to the insurance company in relation to defi-
ned contribution retirement benefit plan are charged as an 
expense as they fall due.

the defined benefit scheme in luxembourg is accounted for 
as such under ias 19, using the projected unit Credit method, 
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance 
sheet date (see note 23 below).

in respect of actuarial gains and losses in calculating the 
group’s obligation in respect of a plan, to the extent that any 
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10 per 
cent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets, that portion is re-
cognized in the income statement over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the 
plan. otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognized.

 (m) provisions 

a provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the group 
has a present legal or contractual obligation as a result of a past 
event that can be estimated reliably, and if it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a measura-
ble obligation. if the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

heavy maintenance costs (“d-checks”) relating to aircraft 
under operating leases are accrued for on the basis of the 
heavy maintenance supplier agreement.

the group accrues for delivery costs related to aircraft under 
operating leases as soon as the asset does not meet the re-
turn condition criteria.

 (n) trade and other payables

trade and other payables are stated at cost.

 (o) revenue - services rendered 

Cargo sales, net of discounts, are recognized as revenue 
when the transportation service is provided. other revenue, 
primarily third party aircraft maintenance, is also recognized 
when the service is rendered.

 (p) expenses 

(i) operating lease payments 
rentals paid under operating leases are recognized in the in-
come statement over the term of the lease. lease incentives 
received are recognized in the income statement as an inte-
gral part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease. 

(ii) finance lease payments 
minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finan-
ce charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. the fi-
nance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. the interest expense com-
ponent of finance lease payments is recognized in the income 
statement using the effective interest rate method.

(iii) net finance expense
net finance costs comprise the net result of (i) interest payable 
on borrowings, and (ii) interest receivable on funds invested 
(Cash and cash equivalents and Other investments), dividend 
income and gains and losses (realized and unrealized) on Other 
investments and on interest rate hedging instruments that do 
not qualify for hedge accounting (see note 3 (c)).

interest income is recognized in the income statement as it 
accrues, using the effective interest method where appro-
priate. dividend income is recognized in the income state-
ment on the date the group’s right to receive the payments 
is established.

 (q) income tax 

income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. income tax is recognized in the income sta-
tement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

1275_CargoLux_08_début 11-03-09 Fred_L8.indd   61 14/04/09   11:51:02



Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates applicable at the balance sheet 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of pre-
vious years.

deferred tax is computed using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purpo-
ses and the amounts used for taxation purposes. deferred tax 
is not recognized for temporary differences related to invest-
ments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not 
be reversed in the foreseeable future. the amount of deferred 
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization 
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. 

a deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. deferred tax as-
sets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized.

 (r)  new standards and interpretations  
not yet adopted 

a number of new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations published by the iasb as at december 31, 
2008 are not yet effective for the year ended december 31, 
2008, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements:

  revised ias 1 presentation of financial statements 
(2007) introduces the term total comprehensive income, 
which represents changes in equity during a period other 
than changes resulting from transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners. total comprehensive income 
may be presented in either a single statement of com-
prehensive income (effectively combining the income 
statement and all non-owner changes in equity in a sin-
gle statement) or in the income statement and in a sepa-
rate statement of comprehensive income. revised ias 1, 
which becomes mandatory for the group’s 2009 financial 
statements, is expected to have an impact on the pre-
sentation of the financial statements. 

  revised ifrs 3 business Combinations (2008) incorpora-
tes the following changes:

• The definition of a business has been broadened, which 
is likely to result in more acquisitions being treated as bu-
siness combinations.

• Contingent consideration will be measured at fair value, with 
subsequent changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

• Transaction costs, other than share and debt issue 
costs, will be expensed as incurred.

• Any pre-existing interest in the acquiree will be measu-
red at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss.

• Any non-controlling (minority) interest will be measu-
red at either fair value, or at its proportionate interest in 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree, on a 
transaction-by-transaction basis.

revised ifrs 3, which becomes mandatory for the group’s 
2010 consolidated financial statements, will be applied pros-
pectively and therefore there will be no impact on prior pe-
riods in the group’s 2010 consolidated financial statements.

  amended ias 27 Consolidated and separate financial 
statements (2008) requires accounting for changes in 
ownership interests by the group in a subsidiary, while 
maintaining control, to be recognised as an equity tran-
saction. When the group loses control of a subsidiary, any 
interest retained in the former subsidiary will be measu-
red at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss. the amendments to ias 27, which become man-
datory for the group’s 2010 consolidated financial state-
ments, are not expected to have a significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements.

the following new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are currently under analysis by the group, but 
are expected to have no or limited impact:

  ifrs 8 operating segments 

  ifriC 13 Customer loyalty programmes 

  ifriC 15 agreement for the Construction of real estate 

  ifriC 16 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 

  amendment to ifrs 2 share-based payment – vesting 
Conditions and Cancellations

ifrs finanCial statements
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  amendments to ias 32 financial instruments: presenta-
tion and ias 1 presentation of financial statements – pu-
ttable financial instruments and obligations arising on 
liquidation

  amendment to ias 39 financial instruments: recognition 
and measurement – eligible hedged items.

4. determination of fair values

a number of the group’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities. fair values have been de-
termined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based 
on the following methods. Where applicable, further informa-
tion about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) investments in equity securities
the fair value of financial assets is determined by reference 
to their quoted bid price at the reporting date.

(ii) derivatives
fair values of hedging instruments, representing unrealized 
gains and losses, are determined on the balance sheet date 
based on third party pricings and valuations, including valua-
tions provided by the group’s counterparties to the hedging 
transactions. Where feasible any counterparty valuation is ve-
rified by the group and independent sources. the values assu-
me a normal functioning of financial markets. market volatility 
will necessarily have an impact on said pricings and valuations 
as well as the group’s eventual liability with respect of the hed-
ging instruments booked at the balance sheet date. 

(iii) other financial assets/liabilities
the fair value of non-current, fixed interest bearing receiva-
bles and payables is determined by discounting future cash 
flows using current market interest rates. other financial as-
sets and liabilities are carried at the fair value subject to any 
adjustment for impairment (on which see note 3 (j) above).

5. financial risKs and risK management

risK management frameworK 
the group has exposure to the following financial risks with res-
pect of its financial assets and use of financial instruments:

  credit risk

  liquidity risk

  market risk

credit risK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a counter-
party to a financial instrument or issuer of a security fails to 
meet its contractual obligations because of insolvency, ban-
kruptcy or similar event.

liquidity risK 
liquidity risk is the risk that market or other conditions cause 
a disfunction of the market which affects participants’ ability 
to access funds to meet their obligations or correctly price se-
curities or derivatives.

marKet risK 
market risk is the risk that changes in asset prices resulting from 
fluctuation in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or fuel pri-
ces will affect the group’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. the objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the benefit expected to be derived 
from the investing and risk management activities, respectively.

general
this note presents information about the group’s exposure to 
each of the above risks, the group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s 
management of excess cash. Where applicable, further quan-
titative disclosures are included throughout these financial 
statements.

the board of directors has overall responsibility for the es-
tablishment and oversight of the group’s risk management 
framework. the board has established the risk management 
Committee, which is responsible for executing and monitoring 
the group’s risk management policies with respect of finan-
cial instruments. the risk management Committee reports on 
a regular basis to the board of directors and its audit Commit-
tee on the committee’s activities.

the group’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyze the risks faced by the group, to set ap-
propriate risk limits and controls, to determine appropriate 
instruments to protect the group against risks and to mo-
nitor risks and financial limits. risk management policies 
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and procedures are reviewed as required to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the group’s activities. the group, 
through its training and management standards and pro-
cedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which employees involved in the 
risk management activity understand their respective ro-
les and obligations.

the group buys derivatives in order to manage market risks. 
in connection with purchases of derivatives, the group so-
metimes also sells derivatives. such transactions are carried 
out within the risk management framework and control me-
chanisms described below. Where possible the group seeks to 
apply hedge accounting for those instruments in order to re-
duce volatility in profit or loss. the group’s risk management 
policy prohibits short sellings.

the primary goal of the group’s investment policy is to maxi-
mize investment returns while protecting the invested capi-
tal. to this effect, the group invests excess cash, subject to 
limits established in its treasury policy, in investment funds, 
bank deposits, zero-coupons and structured products with a 
capital guarantee at maturity. the return on structured pro-
ducts depends on the performance of the underlying used, 
which may be equities, commodities, indices, currencies, 
securities or interest rates. in accordance with this strategy, 
structured products are designated as Other investments and 
recorded at fair value in the balance sheet with any change in 
value flowing through the income statement. the group does 
only purchase securities or structured investment products 
from a counterparty having the necessary credit rating and 
which makes a daily market in those securities or financial 
instruments.

 (a) credit risK

cash, derivatives and other financial instruments
the group limits its exposure to credit risk by only making 
deposits with, investing in securities issued by and buying 
protection from counterparties that have a long-term credit 
rating of at least a+ from standard & poor’s and a1 from moo-
dy’s. any exception to this rule must be approved by the risk 
management Committee and is closely monitored. in 2008 
the group established credit limits for each counterparty. 
this enables the group to cap the maximum amount of bu-
siness that can be transacted with any given counterparty. 
Compliance with those credit limits is monitored by the risk 
management Committee.

the carrying amount of financial assets represents the maxi-
mum credit exposure.

trade and other receivables 
the group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the 
individual characteristics of the customer and the demogra-
phics of the group’s customer base, including the default risk 
of the industry and country in which customers operate. the 
group distinguishes between countries considered as low risk 
and countries of higher risk depending on their geographical 
and political situation and monitors customers on either list 
separately. 

the Credit Committee has established a credit policy under 
which each new customer is analyzed individually for credi-
tworthiness before the group’s standard payment and delive-
ry terms and conditions are offered. the group’s review inclu-
des external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank 
references. purchase limits are established for each custo-
mer, which represents the maximum open amount allowed for 
trading without requiring approval from the Credit Committee; 
these limits are reviewed regularly. Customers that fail to 
meet the group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact 
with the group only on a prepayment basis or if they can offer 
collateral e.g. bank guarantees or letters of a credit.

not more than 14 percent of the group’s revenue is attributable 
to sales transactions with a single customer. the five largest 
customers of the group represent 49 percent of the net cargo 
sales. more than 71.5 percent of the group’s customers have 
been transacting with the group for over four years, and losses 
have occurred infrequently. in monitoring customer credit risk, 
customers are grouped according to their credit characteris-
tics, including whether they are an individual or legal entity, 
whether they are stand alone entities or part of a larger group, 
geographic location, aging profile, maturity and credit history. 
Customers that are graded as “high risk” are placed on a restric-
ted customer list, and future sales are made on a prepayment 
or collateral basis with approval of the Credit Committee.

the group’s credit risk exposure is mitigated by a credit risk 
insurance against delinquent customer payments purchased 
from a professional insurer that retransfers part of the risk to 
the group’s captive reinsurance company. 

the group establishes an allowance for impairment that re-
presents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables (see note 18).
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the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at 
the reporting date by areas was:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

area i 31,160,208 35,173,773
area ii 70,995,993 111,709,986
area iii 62,095,954 100,231,032
area iv 3,080,338 10,085,091
 167,332,493 257,199,882

Cargolux is a member of the iata clearing systems Cass (Cargo 
accounts settlement systems) and iCh (iata Clearing house) 
commonly used by forwarders and airlines, respectively, to 
settle payments. in 2008, 59.6 % of receivables were cleared 
through Cass and iCh (42.5 % in 2007). as of december 31, 
2008 over 99 % (99 % in 2007) of the total outstanding trade 
debtors were within the contractual payment terms. the ave-
rage dso of trade receivables was 40.3 days in 2008 (42.5 
days in 2007).

 (b) fuel risK

fuel price
the group’s earnings are significantly exposed to fluctuations 
in fuel prices. in 2008 the group agreed and implemented 
new governance and also a policy and procedures document  

covering fuel risk management.  this was based on a full 
review which had been done in 2007. the group has signi-
ficantly improved the risk management of its most volatile 
cost element. this was illustrated by the successful financial 
outcome to fuel risk management in 2008 when the group 
was confronted with unprecedented fuel price movements.

fuel hedges
as at december 31, 2008, the group had hedges in place for 
100,980 tons in q1 2009, 78,656 tons in q2 2009, 65,682 tons 
in q3 2009, 37,258 tons in q4 2009, 80,000 tons for h1 2010 
and 13,907 tons in h2 2010. the majority of the forward cover 
for 2009 and 2010 was built during the high price environment 
of 2008. breakeven levels are currently at us$ 1,162/ton and 
us$1,135/ton respectively. most of the protection is provided 
through call options and the premiums were reduced by the 
group selling puts which creates a potential for the group to 
pay out monies when prices are below the above mentioned 
break-even levels. the fair value of these hedges has nega-
tively impacted the year-end result and shareholders’ equity 
as shown below.

generally the group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order 
to manage volatility in profit or loss.

as at 31 december 2008, the fair value of fuel derivatives was 
as follows:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

derivative assets 10,767,755 352,720

derivative liabilities - (3,851,490)

balanCe at 1 january 10,767,755 (3,498,770)

effeCtive portion of hedges reCognized in equity  (30,703,006) -

ineffeCtive portion of hedges and non-qualifying hedges reCognized in inCome statement  (17,515,378) 14,266,525

derivative assets 10,720,435 10,767,755

derivative liabilities (48,171,064) -

balanCe at 31 deCember (37,450,629) 10,767,755
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 us$ eur hKd other total

deposits With third parties 48,064,417 5,447,306 50,749 416,936 53,979,408

trade reCeivables and other reCeivables 121,411,159 147,095,927 26,894,728 54,875,418 350,277,232

other investments 88,199,884 - - - 88,199,884

Cash and Cash equivalents 69,024,878 18,654,490 472,519 15,640,544 103,792,431

interest-bearing liabilities (193,165,527) (33,167,900) - - (226,333,427)

finanCe lease liabilities (565,366,577) (7,286,873) - - (572,653,450)

banK overdrafts (6,519) (855,294) (10,586) (848,289) (1,720,688)

trade payables and other payables (161,135,355) (66,405,869) (1,593,487) (5,565,374) (234,700,085)

taxes payable (141,811) (5,731,439) - (274,916) (6,148,166)

at the immediately preceding balance sheet date, the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

 us$ eur hKd other total

deposits With third parties 21,976,789 4,666,109 49,079 416,637 27,108,614

trade reCeivables and other reCeivables 104,436,124 149,091,644 46,996,660 65,239,082 365,763,510

other investments 72,619,573 - - - 72,619,573

Cash and Cash equivalents 65,219,318 8,016,262 365,647 20,992,947 94,594,174

interest-bearing liabilities (122,086,831) (11,778,800) - - (133,865,631)

finanCe lease liabilities (392,479,919) (9,114,375) - - (401,594,294)

banK overdrafts (32,971) (183,621) (1,772) (77,154) (295,518)

trade payables and other payables (133,300,640) (83,543,878) (5,602,353) (5,056,709) (227,503,580)

taxes payable - (6,004,207) (4,536,510) (210,365) (10,751,082)

relevant foreign exchange rates relative to the us$ were as follows:

 average rate reporting date spot rate
 2008 2007  2008 2007

eur 1.47082 1.37059  1.41140 1.47235

hKd 0.12843 0.12817  0.12903 0.12814

ifrs finanCial statements

notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
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 (c) currency risK 

the group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and 
borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the group. 

the group does not incur non-dollar denominated indebtedness 
to finance its assets stated in us$ in order to eliminate any re-
lated volatility in profit or loss. 

at the balance sheet date, the group’s exposure to foreign 
currency risk was as follows:
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 (d) interest rate risK

the group is exposed to interest rate risk on interest pay-
ments relating to its on balance sheet debt and on rental 
payments. additionally, the group is also exposed to interest 
rate risk related to future, non contingent interest bearing 
liabilities such as financings for aircraft to be delivered out-
side the current reporting period. the group adopts a policy 
of ensuring that its exposure to increases in interest rates on 
borrowings is capped or reduced while allowing the group to 
benefit to a certain extend from a low interest rate environ-
ment. generally, this objective is achieved by buying caps and 
selling floors. this strategy is deemed preferable than fixing 
the rate at the time the loan is contracted, unless at that time 
interest rates are deemed to be very low and in which case 
such rates are locked in via a swap or fixed interest loan. 

however, in a low interest rate trend environment – as was 
prevailing at the balance sheet date – this strategy results 
in important negative marked-to-market of derivative instru-
ments which are booked to equity. 

the interest rate hedging programme involves interest rate 
swaps and other interest rate hedging instruments acquired 
through “over the Counter” (otC) derivative markets with the 
unique objective of reducing the interest rate risk linked to the 
debt portfolio of the group. Where possible the group seeks to 
apply hedge accounting for those instruments in order to re-
duce volatility in profit or loss. no short selling or leveraging 
of structure is permitted.

at the reporting date the interest rate profile of the group’s 
interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

fixed rate instruments   

finanCial liabilities 133,803,893 162,099,980

floating rate instruments   

finanCial assets 191,992,315 167,213,747

finanCial liabilities 674,136,868 379,071,201

interest rate derivatives  

nominal amount of derivatives With respeCt of underlying finanCings 
in plaCe at the balanCe sheet date     910,265,692 821,048,929

nominal amount of derivatives With respeCt of underlying finanCings 
WhiCh Were not in plaCe at the balanCe sheet date 593,565,000 435,950,000

as at 31 december 2008, the fair value of interest derivatives was a follows:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

derivative assets 11,170,177 2,298,948

derivative liabilities (28,157,255) (8,171,034)

balanCe at 1 january (16,987,078) (5,872,086)

effeCtive portion of hedges reCognized in equity  (109,703,160) (9,831,932)

ineffeCtive portion of hedges and non-qualifying hedges reCognized in inCome statement  (4,152,488) (1,283,060)

derivative assets 28,330,322 11,170,177

derivative liabilities (159,173,048) (28,157,255)

balanCe at 31 deCember (130,842,726) (16,987,078)
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 (e) liquidity risK

the group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it 
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without in-
curring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the group’s 
reputation. 

the group is subject to loan covenants for some of its borrowing 
and finance lease arrangements, which in case of breach, 

would entitle the lending parties to demand prepayment of the 
loan. financial covenants require the group to respect certain 
balance sheet and interest and rental coverage ratios. under 
one such covenant ebitdar (earnings before interest, tax, de-
preciation, amortization and rentals) must cover 1.3 times net 
interest expense plus rentals for the period. as at 31 december 
2008, the group meets all covenants.

the following are the contractual maturities of assets and 
liabilities:

as at 31 december 2008, the group is in a net current liability 
position. in addition to routine capital repayment under inte-
rest bearing loans and finance lease liabilities, the group fa-
ces the following payments in the year immediately following 
the balance sheet date:

  negative marked-to-market of fuel and interest rate deri-
vatives based on market prices as of december 31, 2008

  balloon payments on 2 loans maturing in 2009 (lx-lCv 
and lx-rCv)

  repayment of the new hangar facility

  maturity of the pre-delivery payment facility which the 
group expects to extend to match the new delivery dea-
dlines of the aircraft concerned

  the current portion on 2 financings which were not on the 
books of the group in the immediately preceding fiscal 
year (lx-mCv and lx-yCv)

  the first installment of the fine payable to the us doj 
(usd 10 million)

further the group incurred current liabilities with respect of 
negative marked-to-market of fuel and interest rate deriva-
tives based on market prices as of december 31, 2008 (see 
notes 5 (b) and (d)).

the group is continuously taking various initiatives to impro-
ve its liquidity position including by:

  managing its credit lines

  selling non strategic assets, e.g. spare engines having a 
low carrying value

  avoiding the posting of cash collateral under derivative 
transactions. 

the group entered into various forward sales of aircraft with 
delivery dates in 2009, 2010 and 2011 (see note 15). this will 
result in substantial cash inflows for the group during these 

 2009 2010 2011 further no maturity 
    than  2011  
 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$

trade reCeivables and other reCeivables 295,831,162 1,055,091 60,000 325,000 53,005,979

other investments 63,909,524 6,155,475 - 5,415,375 12,719,510

Cash and Cash equivalents 103,792,431 - - - -

interest-bearing liabilities (172,279,164) (7,116,928) (46,937,335) - -

finanCe lease liabilities (71,554,669) (125,620,513) (39,810,486) (335,667,782) -

banK overdrafts (1,720,688) - - - -

trade payables and other payables (234,700,085) - - - -

taxes payable (6,148,166) - - - -

 (22,869,655) (125,526,875) (86,687,821) (329,927,407) 65,725,489
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3 years which will more than compensate the amount then 
outstanding on the remaining loans with respect of the sold 
aircraft (the loans with respect of lx-fCv and lx-iCv were 
fully paid off in the previous exercise).

the group has substantial receivables from an unrelated par-
ty in connection with the construction of the new hangar (see 
note 18) which has in part been financed by own funds. the 
delivery in 2009 will result in a significant cash inflow which 
will more than compensate the amount then outstanding un-
der the new hangar construction facility.

the group maintains credit lines to ensure that it will be able to 
face its obligations when they fall due. as at 31 december 2008, 
the group had the following credit lines available for drawing:

  new hangar construction facility: eur 46.5 million

  Committed credit lines (i.e. lines with respect of which the 
group pays commitment fees): 60 million. a line of usd 
25 million is currently unavailable as the group does not 
meet a financial covenant for drawing under the facility. 
this covenant is presently under renegotiation to allow 
future drawings. 

the group has commitments for the acquisition of the new fleet 
(see note 27). advance payments are regularly made based 
on contractual terms. due to delivery delays as announced by 
boeing, pre-delivery payments have been suspended as from 
december 2008 pending final agreement with boeing on new 
delivery slots and credit to be given to the group for pre-deli-
very payments made too early. in the meantime, boeing has 
confirmed that pre-delivery payments will not resume before 
the end of the first quarter of 2010.

on december 31, 2009 a pre-delivery payment facility expi-
res. as the delivery of the related aircraft is postponed to the 
summer 2010, the group intends to seek an extension of that 
facility in 2009.

in connection with a settlement made with the australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission (aCCC), the group has 
paid a fine of a$ 5.2 million (us$ 3.3 million) to this authority 
in march 2009. a provision has been constituted in the 2008 
accounts to reflect this payment.

 (f) sensitivity analysis 

in managing currency, interest rate and fuel price risks, the 
group seeks to reduce the impact of short- to medium-term 
changes on the group’s budgeted earnings and cash flows. 
over the longer term, however, permanent changes in any or all 
of the above would have an impact on earnings and cash flows.

at december 31, 2008, it is estimated that a general increase 
of one percentage point in interest rates would have decreased 
the group’s profit before tax by approximately us$ 3 million. in-
terest rate swaps and other hedging instruments that were in 
place at that time have been included in this calculation.

it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage 
point in the value of the us dollar against other foreign curren-
cies throughout the year would have decreased the group’s 
profit before tax by approximately us$ 7 million. the forward 
exchange contracts and other hedging instruments that were 
in place at that time have been included in this calculation.

it is estimated that an increase of us$ 50 in the price of jet 
fuel (nW european) over a one year period would have in-
creased the group’s fuel bill by around us$ 5 million. the im-
pact on the results of such increase depends on a number of 
factors, primarily how much of the increase can be absorbed 
by the fuel surcharge.

 
6. revenues
 2008 us$ 2007 us$

Cargo sales 1,963,849,626 1,657,044,318
third party maintenanCe revenue 8,424,692 8,860,710
other revenues 10,937,923 13,794,800
 1,983,212,241 1,679,699,828

Cargo sales represent revenues directly related to the group’s 
core business, i.e. air freight, net of customer incentives and 
rebates. the largest contributors to net turnover were area 
iii (asia & pacific) traffic and area ii (europe & West africa) 
traffic, which collectively accounted for 78% of net turnover 
(2007: 78%). the third largest contributor to net turnover was 
area i (the americas) traffic, accounting for approximately 
16% (2007: 16%) with the balance accounted for by area iv 
(middle east, south & east africa) and charter traffic.

included in Other revenues are trucking, handling and other 
services rebilled to freight forwarders.
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7. other operating income

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

gain on sale of property, 
plant and equipment 72,815 1,957,611
foreign exChange gain, net 1,389,947 1,263,690
 1,462,762 3,221,301

8. aircraft lease expenses

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

airCraft rentals under dry leases 55,300,543 84,617,448
airCraft rentals under Wet leases 21,489,451 47,994,948
fees payable under bloCKspaCe 
agreements 457,634 232,510
return Conditions provision 
With respeCt of dry leased airCraft 1,456,968 3,668,199
 78,704,596 136,513,105

at the balance sheet date the group dry leased the following 
aircraft: lx-gCv, lx-KCv, lx-oCv, lx-pCv and lx-WCv. the 
classification of the leases on lx-uCv and lx-vCv in 2007 
and lx-mCv in 2008 changed following the notice given by 
the group electing to exercise the purchase options on those 
three aircraft (see note 15 below).

during 2008, the group wet-leased from air atlanta one b747-
200f during the whole year, one b747-400f from january to 
and including april and one additional b747-200f for the last 
three months of the year.

during 2007, the group wet-leased one b747-400f and one b747-
200f from air atlanta. for the last 4 months of the year, an additio-
nal b747-200f was leased in to deal with peak season demand.

9. aircraft maintenance expenses (outsourced)

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

engine repair and overhaul 69,165,219 62,885,011
heavy maintenanCe (“C-CheCKs” and 
“d-CheCKs” on dry leased airCraft) 5,626,003 4,792,204
Component repair 5,564,527 6,106,574
stoCK Consumption 9,053,007 10,806,968
maintenanCe at stations 5,169,801 4,096,789
braKes repair 2,865,963 2,769,164
other maintenanCe expenses  4,387,764 2,987,199
 101,832,284 94,443,909

10. other aircraft expenses

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

insuranCes, inCluding 
fleet insuranCe 3,139,017 3,460,481
 3,139,017 3,460,481

11. personnel costs and benefits

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

by category of expenses  
salaries, overtime, 13th month 
and profit sharing 176,836,709 161,646,749
soCial seCurity 17,985,463 16,717,343
employee benefits  
- expenses related to defined 
- benefit plans 730,678 136,033
- expenses related to defined 
- Contribution plans 3,715,413 2,479,518
- other (aCCident and 
- invalidity insuranCe) 3,849,365 4,739,717
training and sundry 
personnel Charges 10,862,380 10,755,258
 213,980,008 196,474,618

 2008 2007

average number of staff by category    
operations (inCluding CreWs) 460 445
sales and marKeting 505 495
maintenanCe 399 394
finanCe and administration 83 81
general management (inCluding 
human resourCes, publiC relations 
and internal audit) 62 57
 1,509 1,472

as of december 31, 2008 1,284 (2007: 1,238) employees 
were based in countries of the european union, of which 1,155 
in luxembourg (2007: 1,105).
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12. other operating expenses

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

gsa Commissions 17,629,234 15,769,494
it serviCes 34,463,615 33,027,426
travel & entertainment 21,584,428 19,002,868
offiCe and offiCe equipment 
(rental and maintenanCe) 9,086,303 7,715,467
legal, audit and Consulting fees 10,827,765 4,017,513
valuation alloWanCe 
on Current assets  2,407,921 (25,011)
teleCommuniCation expenses 2,097,588 1,978,757
misCellaneous 19,476,569 17,743,733
anti-trust provisions 77,682,818 154,878,191
 195,256,241 254,108,438

gsa commissions represent commissions payable to the 
group’s general sales agents.

valuation allowance on current assets relate to doubtful cus-
tomers and stock obsolescence.

in connection with the anti-trust investigations and procee-
dings initiated against the group by anti-trust authorities in va-
rious jurisdictions, the group constituted in its 2006 accounts 
a provision of us$ 20 million to provide for legal fees payable to 
counsel representing the group and certain group executives in 
these proceedings. in 2008, us$ 4.5 million was added to that 
provision (under “legal, audit and consulting fees” above). 

in 2007, a provision of us$ 154.9 million was constituted to co-
ver the group’s exposure with respect of anti-trust proceedings 
initiated against the group by the eu Commission. this provision 
was adjusted in 2008 to reflect a delay in the expected payment 
dates of the related fine, the benefit of a 3 year payment sche-
dule, recalculation of the discount the group expects to obtain in 
connection with its ongoing cooperation with the eu Commission 
and the specific economic context. in 2008 the group constituted 
an additional provision to cover fines the group expects to pay 
to the us doj, the aCCC in australia and the Commerce Commis-
sion of new zealand. the present value of all anti-trust provisions 
constituted with respect of the group’s exposure to fines payable 
to the eC, doj, aCCC and Commerce Commission of new zealand 
was us$ 233,6 million (2007: us$ 154.9 million) at the balance 
sheet date. see also notes 24 and 28 below.

13. net finance costs

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

net Change in fair value of finanCial 
assets at fair value  2,500,882 2,988,890
interest inCome on banK deposits 6,234,830 7,758,197
other finanCial inCome  (iata Call 
day adjustments, disCounts reCeived) 605,032 847,076
finanCial inCome 9,340,744 11,594,163
interest expense (31,050,439) (23,795,690)
net Change in fair value 
of finanCial assets at fair value  (7,401,564) (1,477,560)
effeCt of net present value 
on provisions (9,625,517) (2,852,686)
other finanCial expenses 
(banK Charges, loan agenCy fees, 
Cass Commissions) (1,818,363) (1,598,359)
finanCial expenses (49,895,883) (29,724,295)
net finance costs (40,555,139) (18,130,132)

14. income tax expense

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

current tax expense  
Current year 2,152,560 8,902,240
adjustments for prior years 937,734 (383,041)
 3,090,294 8,519,199
deferred tax expense / (income) 
origination and reversal 
of temporary differenCes 39,811,965 (6,789,111)
benefit of tax losses (25,166,159) -
effeCt of investment tax Credit 20,362,028 (4,167,868)
 35,007,834 (10,956,979)
total income tax expense /  
(income) in income statement 38,098,128 (2,437,780)

origination and reversal of temporary differences mainly relates 
to different depreciation periods on aircraft (18 years versus 20 
years) and the reversal of the deferred tax asset arising from the 
conversion of the commercial balance sheet prepared in usd into 
the tax balance sheet prepared in euro.
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reconciliation of effective tax rate

  2008 2008 2007 2007 
  % us$ % us$

loss before tax   (22,945,283)   (49,536,940)

inCome tax using the domestiC rate 30.38 (6,970,777) 30.38 (15,049,322)

share of profit of assoCiates   (1,149,593)   (494,639)

effeCt of Current tax in foreign branChes   (756,420)   (2,857,038)

non deduCtible expenses   28,377,612   47,090,783

tax exempt   (353,293)   -

effeCt of investment tax Credit   17,716,779   (13,522,068)

effeCt of Change in tax rate   5,329,318   -

under / (over) provided in prior years   937,734   (383,041)

effeCt of tax loss   (5,033,232)   -

foreign exChange differenCe   -   (17,222,455)

inCome tax expense / (inCome)   38,098,128   (2,437,780)

the group is subject to corporate income tax, municipal business 
tax and net worth tax in luxembourg. the group is also subject to 
certain taxes in foreign tax jurisdictions in which it maintains per-
manent establishments. 

during 2008, the determination of the tax basis of assets and lia-
bilities and the related taxable income were changed and resulted 
in tax losses. the effect of investment tax credit (itC) is linked to 

the expiry of itC in 2009, 2010 and 2011 which are not expected 
to be used due to the 2008 tax losses and the revision of the bu-
siness plan for the period 2009-2011, which shows an important 
decline of taxable profit due to the economic environment. 

in december 2008, a corporate tax rate reduction of 1% was enac-
ted resulting in a combined rate of 29.34% applicable for fiscal 
years commencing after december 31, 2008.
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15. property, plant and equipment

 airCraft and land and other payments total 
 equipment buildings equipment on aCCounts  
    and assets  
    in Course of  
    ConstruCtion  
 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$

Cost at beginning of year 1,215,692,302 7,542,526 32,418,959 89,809,064 1,345,462,851

aCquisitions 8,915,036 12,285 1,031,728 133,412,072 143,371,121

finanCe leases 209,937,476 - - - 209,937,476

transfer from assets under ConstruCtion - 417,032 - (417,032) -

d-CheCK Write off (5,200,000) - - - (5,200,000)

reClassifiCation of deposits - - - (9,296,750) (9,296,750)

reimbursement of advanCe payments - - - (41,329,100) (41,329,100)

disposals (339,764) (13,228) (118,198) - (471,190)

at end of year 1,429,005,050 7,958,615 33,332,489 172,178,254 1,642,474,408

aCCumulated depreCiation 
at beginning of year (457,696,372) (7,057,051) (23,018,671) - (487,772,094)

Charge for the year (53,475,012) (328,423) (2,381,892) - (56,185,327)

d-CheCK Write off 5,200,000 - - - 5,200,000

adjustments for disposals 189,046 12,739 113,884 - 315,669

at end of year (505,782,338) (7,372,735) (25,286,679) - (538,441,752)

net booK value as of december 31, 2008 923,222,712 585,880 8,045,810 172,178,254 1,104,032,656

net booK value as of deCember 31, 2007 757,995,930 485,475 9,400,288 89,809,064 857,690,757

aircraft subject to finance leases
the group leases aircraft under a number of f inance lease 
agreements (lx-mCv, lx-rCv, lx-sCv, lx-tCv, lx-uCv, lx-
vCv and lx-yCv). at the end of each of the leases the group 
has the option to purchase the equipment at a preferential 
or favorable price. on december 21, 2007, the group gave 
notice to exercise the purchase option granted to it un-
der the operating leases covering lx-uCv and lx-vCv. on 
august 25, 2008, the group gave notice to exercise the pur-
chase option granted to it under the operating lease cove-
ring lx-mCv. the option exercise notices had the effect of 
changing the classification of those leases from operating 
to f inance lease. at december 31, 2008, the net carrying 
amount of leased aircraft under f inance leases was us$ 
661,854,548 (2007: us$ 486,622,067).

the net carrying amount of other equipment (simulator) under 
finance leases was us$ 4,967,827 (2007: us$ 5,795,798).

security 
at december 31, 2008, aircraft and equipment with a carrying 
amount of us$ 791,576,753 (2007: us$ 621,296,994) are 
subject to mortgages to secure the bank loans relating to lx-
lCv, lx-nCv, lx-rCv, lx-sCv, lx-tCv, lx-uCv, lx-vCv, lx-mCv 
and lx-yCv (2007: lx-lCv, lx-nCv, lx-rCv, lx-sCv, lx-tCv, 
lx-uCv and lx-vCv). on may 28, 2008 the grand-duchy of 
luxembourg ratified the Cape town Convention on interna-
tional interests in mobile equipment (Cape town 2001). the 
convention was enacted into luxembourg law effective of de-
cember 12, 2008. some of the group’s aircraft are or will be 
subject to a mortgage registration in the Cape town registry.
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16. investments in associates

the group has the following investments in associates:

   oWnership
 Country 2008 2007

luxfuel s.a. luxembourg 30% 30%

Champ Cargosystems s.a. luxembourg 49% 49%

freighter leasing s.a. luxembourg 33% 33%

summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group:

in us$ oWnership assets equity liabilities revenues profit 
       / (loss)

2008      

luxfuel s.a. 30% 12,676,795 8,341,159 4,335,636 10,689,606 2,217,818

Champ Cargosystems s.a. 49% 77,170,852 44,335,764 32,835,088 58,575,585 4,148,601

freighter leasing s.a. 33% 232,547,947 (293,653) 232,841,600 28,938,338 3,257,660

  322,395,594 52,383,270 270,012,324 98,203,529 9,624,079

2007      

luxfuel s.a. 30% 13,305,874 8,984,237 4,321,637 9,850,582 2,268,389

Champ Cargosystems s.a. 49% 66,321,402 41,903,315 24,418,087 54,683,987 4,388,407

freighter leasing s.a. 33% 244,663,956 42,176,433 202,487,523 32,967,902 (3,608,353)

  324,291,232 93,063,985 231,227,247 97,502,471 3,048,443

depreciation
in july 2008, the group sold lx-mCv and lx-nCv on a forward 
basis to an unrelated party with delivery dates in 2010 and 
2011. the sales price for lx-nCv was above its then carrying 
value, resulting in discontinuance of the related depreciation 
expense for the balance of 2008 and further years.

in april 2007 the group sold lx-fCv, lx-iCv and lx-lCv on a 
forward basis to an unrelated party with delivery dates in 

2009 and 2010. the sales prices for those aircraft were above 
their then carrying values resulting in discontinuance of the 
related depreciation expense for the balance of 2007 and fur-
ther years. 

capitalized borrowing costs
assets under construction include borrowing costs for an 
amount of us$ 4.2 million (2007: nil).
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1275_CargoLux_08_début 11-03-09 Fred_L8.indd   74 14/04/09   11:51:07



75

annualreport .08
ifrs finanCial statements

notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
as of deCember 31, 2008

17. deferred tax assets and liabilities

deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 assets liabilities net

 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$

airCraft and equipment 15,512,041 96,040,518 - - 15,512,041 96,040,519

other property, 
plant and equipment - - (1,457,560) (1,760,763) (1,457,560) (1,760,763)

derivative assets - - (7,025,115) (2,980,534) (7,025,115) (2,980,534)

investments in assoCiates 5,059,232 4,630,964 - - 5,059,232 4,630,964

trade reCeivables 
and other reCeivables - - (1,111,013) (278,311) (1,111,013) (278,311)

other investments - - (3,925,271) (1,342,039) (3,925,271) (1,342,039)

interest-bearing loans
and borroWings - - (44,132) (11,396,835) (44,132) (11,396,835)

finanCe lease liabilities 409,980 -  (28,405,972) 409,980 (28,405,972)

employees benefits - - (191,936) (414,112) (191,936) (414,112)

derivative liabilities 43,571,514 - - (6,862,014) 43,571,514 (6,862,014)

trade and other payables 12,137,564 12,001,513 - - 12,137,564 12,001,512

provisions - - (11,781,882) (9,328,503) (11,781,882) (9,328,503)

benefit of tax losses 
brought forWard 25,166,159 - - - 25,166,159 -

investment tax Credit 59,298,986 79,661,014 - - 59,298,986 79,661,014

tax assets / (liabilities) 161,155,476 192,334,009 (25,536,909) (62,769,083) 135,618,567 129,564,926

set off tax (25,536,909) (62,769,083) 25,536,909 62,769,083 - -

net tax assets 135,618,567 129,564,926 - - 135,618,567 129,564,926

deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net because 
the group has the legal right to offset.

the group has unused itC’s in excess of us$ 100 million as 
at december 31, 2008 (2007: in excess of us$ 100 million). 
itC can be carried forward over a period of 10 years from the 
date of entitlement to claim same and a significant portion 
is not expected to be used and resulted in the decrease of 
itC from 2007.

deferred tax adjustments of us$ 41,061,476 were applied 
against equity in 2008 (2007: us$ 2,986,941).

18. trade receivables and other receivables

trade receivables of us$ 167.3 million (2007: us$ 257.2 mil-
lion) are shown net of any impairment losses recognized in 
the current year.
 2008 us$ 2007 us$

trade reCeivables 167,332,493 257,199,882
reCeivable from marie-lease s.à r.l 89,822,993 55,622,211
prepaid expenses 50,300,422 17,460,197
advanCes paid to suppliers 7,550,390 7,997,984
vat 4,279,960 5,444,940
derivative assets  19,583,777 10,607,639
other reCeivables 11,407,197 11,430,657
 350,277,232 365,763,510
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on october 16, 2006, the group entered into a leasing agree-
ment with marie-lease s.à r.l. pursuant to which the group will 
lease a new built hangar from marie-lease s.à r.l. for an initial 
period of 15 years. on the same day, the group and marie-
lease s.à r.l. entered into a construction contract pursuant 
to which marie-lease s.à r.l., as beneficiary of the land rights 
(“droit de superficie”) and owner and builder of the improve-
ment, delegated the construction of the hangar to the group. 
under this agency agreement, the group directs, coordinates, 
monitors and supervises the planning, design, assembly and 
construction of the hangar and adjacent facilities (e.g. can-
teen, car park and energy building) and will deliver same to 
marie-lease s.à r.l. at completion against payment to the 
group of all accrued and paid construction and construction 
related (e.g. architect and engineering fees) costs, subject 
to a cap. the above receivable from marie-lease s.à r.l. repre-
sents the total cost incurred by the group at december 31, 
2008 in connection with the new hangar project.

prepaid expenses include security deposits made in connec-
tion with operating leases, rental payments made in advance 
and other prepayments.

19. other investments

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

restriCted Cash 36,808,795 6,053,449
seCurities held at fair value 
through profit and loss 51,391,089 66,566,124
 88,199,884 72,619,573

restricted cash comprises an amount of us$ 6 million secu-
ring letters of credit issued on behalf of the group. Cash and 
securities for an amount of us$ 49 million are pledged as col-
lateral in derivative transactions.

20. cash and cash equivalents

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

banK balanCes 57,213,883 27,938,908
short term deposits 46,578,548 66,655,266
 103,792,431 94,594,174
banK overdrafts (1,720,688) (295,518)
Cash and Cash equivalents 
in the statement of Cash floWs 102,071,743 94,298,656

21. capital and reserves

share capital and main shareholders

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

authorized, issued 
and subsCribed 
6,000,300 (2007: 6,000,300) 
registered shares  
of no par value 360,018,000 360,018,000 

the main shareholders are:

luxair  34.9%
sairlines  33.7%
bip investment partners  11.5%
banque et Caisse d’epargne de l’etat  8.8%
snCi  8.6%
others  2.5%

the shareholders are party to a shareholders’ agreement which 
provides inter alia for pre-emption rights in case of a share sale 
and contains certain corporate governance provisions. 

reserves
reserves comprise the legal reserve, other reserves and the 
hedging reserves.

legal reserve
under luxembourg corporate law, the group must allocate at 
least five percent of the statutory annual net profit to a legal 
reserve until this reserve reaches 10% of the issued share ca-
pital. the legal reserve is not available for dividend distribu-
tions. no further allocation is required since the reserve has 
reached the legal limit of 10% of issued share capital, i.e. us$ 
36 million (2007: us$ 36 million).

other reserves 
to forego payment of the net worth tax, the group has utilized 
the option provided by luxembourg law and decided to consti-
tute and maintain a restricted reserve as of fiscal year 2003. 
any dividend payments from this reserve during the restric-
ted period would suffer tax.

currency translation reserve
the currency translation reserve comprises all foreign cur-
rency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations (see note 3 (b)).
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1275_CargoLux_08_début 11-03-09 Fred_L8.indd   76 14/04/09   11:51:07



77

annualreport .08
ifrs finanCial statements

notes to the consolidated finanCial statements
as of deCember 31, 2008

hedging reserve
the hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the 
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedge accounted 
derivative instruments.

dividends
in light of anti-trust proceedings and upgrading of the Cargo-
lux fleet, the directors recommend that the shareholders fo-
rego any dividend payment with respect of 2008. 

22.   interest-bearing loans and borrowings and finance lease liabilities

this note provides information about the contractual terms of the group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. for more informa-
tion about the group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see also note 5 (c) and (d).

 2008 2007
non-Current liabilities us$ us$

seCured banK loans  

airCraft 54,101,632 107,242,915

loan originated Costs (47,369) (150,416)

total 54,054,263 107,092,499

finanCe lease liabilities  

airCraft 511,019,626 356,061,453

simulator - 7,601,550

loan originated Costs (9,920,845) (7,743,885)

total 501,098,781 355,919,118

grand total 555,153,044 463,011,617

Current liabilities  

interest payable on non-Current liabilities 4,495,040 3,740,911

loan originated Costs (1,760,022) (1,262,348)

Current portion of seCured/unseCured banK loans (Capital repayment) 171,038,023 25,408,967

Current portion of finanCe lease liabilities (Capital repayment) 70,060,792 44,560,778

total 243,833,833 72,448,308
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terms and debt repayment schedule 
terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

 CurrenCy nominal year of principal prinCipal
  interest maturity amount amount
  rate  2008 us$ 2007 us$

seCured banK loans us$ fixed 2009, 2011 107,242,915 120,873,082

seCured banK loans eur euribor 3m + 0.9% 2009 33,167,900 11,778,800

pdp finanCings us$ libor 3m + margin 2009 84,728,840 -
finanCe lease liabilities us$ fixed, libor 6m +  2009, 2010,   
  margin, eib 3m +  2013, 2014,  
  margin, libor 3m +  2016, 2020  
  margin  573,793,545 399,109,406

finanCe lease liabilities eur fixed 2009 7,286,873 9,114,375

total interest-bearing liabilities    806,220,073 540,875,663

as of december 31, 2008, the aggregate annual principal amor-
tization of non-current secured/unsecured loans is as follows: 

2009 171,038,023

2010 7,116,928

2011 46,984,704

total 225,139,655

finance lease liabilities
finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

 minimum lease interest principal minimum interest prinCipal
 payments   lease  
    payments  
 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$

less than one year 84,510,820 14,450,028 70,060,792 64,636,315 20,075,537 44,560,778

betWeen one and five years 362,423,765 28,762,340 333,661,425 211,018,498 56,102,643 154,915,855

more than five years 188,570,669 11,212,468 177,358,201 227,647,870 18,900,722 208,747,148

 635,505,254 54,424,836 581,080,418 503,302,683 95,078,902 408,223,781

under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable.
the group’s liquidity position is discussed in detail in note 5 (e) above.
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capital ratios 

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

outstanding loans 226,333,427 133,865,631
outstanding finanCe 
lease obligations 572,653,450 401,594,294
total debt 798,986,877 535,459,925
less Cash and Cash equivalents 
and other investments (190,271,627) (166,918,229)
net debt 608,715,250 368,541,696
present value of future 
lease payments 185,178,735 269,409,124
adjusted subtotal 793,893,985 637,950,820
equity 454,239,232 616,018,666
net debt/equity 134.0% 59.8%
adjusted net debt/equity 174.8% 103.6%

it is the group’s intention to manage its balance sheet so that 
the adjusted net debt/equity ratio will not exceed 250% as at 
any balance sheet date.

the group is in compliance with a loan covenant which requi-
res that shareholders’ equity represents at least 1/6 of total 
liabilities plus net present value of non-cancellable operating 
lease obligations. 

23. employee benefits

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

fair value of plan assets (11,827,399) (12,677,374)
present value of net obligations 17,470,390 18,129,138
unreCognized aCtuarial gains  391,827 389,572
reCognized liability for defined 
benefit obligations (see beloW) 6,034,818 5,841,336
other employee benefits 5,644,812 7,039,775
total employee benefits 11,679,630 12,881,111

the group maintains defined benefit and defined contribu-
tion pension schemes for its staff in luxembourg. effective 
january 1, 1997, the terms of the pension plan were amended 
for all staff who had not reached retirement age at that date. 
all staff who were retired at this date continue to be covered 
by the previous plan. under the new schemes (covering under 
identical vesting rules the crews and the ground staff covered 
by collective work agreements and the managers), retirement 
benefits are generally paid in one lump sum. the rights to pen-

sion benefits commence at entry date and are fully vested 
after 5 years of service. the group’s pension fund obligations 
(other than the liabilities with respect of the pensioners at 
january 1, 1997) and related assets were transferred to a 
life insurance group in 2002 and are held separately from the 
group. the group is current with respect of its payment obliga-
tions of the annual premiums due under the group’s pension 
schemes and such premiums are expensed under Personnel 
costs and benefits.

the group also maintains separate insurance schemes provi-
ding for death, orphan, widow and disability benefits. these 
schemes are covered by an insurance plan and the related 
insurance premiums are reflected as a current year operating 
expense.

the Cargolux defined benefit scheme is not a multi-employer 
scheme and sufficient information is available to determine 
the obligation, plan assets and costs to the group. the fun-
ding requirements are determined pursuant to the projected 
unit funding method and the pension cost and provision have 
been assessed by a third party professionally qualified ac-
tuary. the latest full pension scheme valuation was perfor-
med by the scheme’s actuaries in january 2009.

movements in the net liability for defined benefit obligations 
recognized in the balance sheet

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

net liability for defined benefit 
obligations at january 1 5,841,336 6,209,622
Contributions reCeived (571,469) (683,858)
pension payments (373,274) (662,200)
expense reCognized in the inCome 
statement (see beloW) 730,678 136,033
foreign exChange impaCt 407,547 841,739
net liability for defined benefit 
obligations at deCember 31 6,034,818 5,841,336

expense recognized in the income statement

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

Current serviCe Costs 408,286 1,009,443
interest on obligation 878,429 1,362,694
expeCted return on plan assets (556,037) (989,209)
effeCt of transfer - (1,246,895)
 730,678 136,033
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in 2007, the “effect of transfer” related to the transformation 
of the pension scheme for managers and some of the crews, 
who had not done so before, from a defined benefit plan into 
a newly created defined contribution plan, so that there re-
mains no obligation under the defined benefit scheme. all 
these transfers were done between insurance contracts di-
rectly subscribed with an external provider for the benefit of 
the pension plan affiliates. there was therefore no cash effect 
for the group.

the expense is recognized in Personnel costs and benefits.

principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date 
(expressed as weighted averages):

 2008 2007

disCount rate at deCember 31 4.61% 4.60%
expeCted return on plan assets 
at deCember 31 4.10% 4.10%

assumptions regarding future mortality are based on pu-
blished statistics and mortality tables.

provisions constituted with respect of the anti-trust procee-
dings the group is involved in and a provision constituted for 
related legal fees are discussed in note 12 above.

the provision of us$ 11.9 million represents the net present 
value of maintenance cost expected to be incurred to deliver 
the aircraft under operating leases to the lessor at lease-end 
in conformity with the delivery conditions stipulated in the 
respective lease agreements. 

the group is the lessee under five (2007: six) operating leases 
for b747-400f aircraft. for the leased aircraft the cost of ma-
jor aircraft overhaul or so-called “d-checks” is provisioned 
and charged to operating expenses in the line item Aircraft 
maintenance expenses based on the estimated remaining 
number of years until the next major overhaul.

24. provisions

in us$ anti-trust legal  return heavy total
   Cost maintenanCe 
   provision program 

balance at january 1, 2008 154,878,191 13,364,492 9,595,485 9,411,972 187,250,140

provisions made during the year 112,484,755 4,461,943 4,094,328 3,877,030 124,918,056

effeCt of net present value on  provisions 7,811,492 - 870,387 943,639 9,625,518

provisions used during the year - (11,826,435) - (1,968,906) (13,795,341)

provisions reversed during the year (34,801,936) - (2,637,360) (2,522,883) (39,962,179)

effeCt of exChange (6,757,880) - - - (6,757,880)

balance at december 31, 2008 233,614,622 6,000,000 11,922,840 9,740,852 261,278,314

non-Current 216,705,798 - 11,922,840 9,740,852 238,369,490

Current 16,908,824 6,000,000 - - 22,908,824

 233,614,622 6,000,000 11,922,840 9,740,852 261,278,314
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25. trade payables and other payables

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

trade payables 41,548,580 45,640,926
general and administration 1,025,381 774,221
maintenanCe 15,544,709 20,820,696
fuel 19,152,322 30,535,357
handling, landing and overflying 25,994,304 32,801,567
truCKing, reforWarding 
and truCK handling 8,011,068 8,760,000
inCentive and WorldWide 
Commissions 15,488,506 20,110,302
rentals under airCraft 
operating leases 1,814,840 5,824,511
insuranCe 1,574,870 681,605
personnel 5,920,022 18,113,036
soCial seCurity 3,888,193 4,759,925
dividends payable 20,003,646 20,003,646
derivatives liabilities on fuel 22,440,656 -
derivatives liabilities 
on interest rate  36,397,955 8,740,048
derivatives liabilities on forex  2,803,398 -
misCellaneous 13,091,635 9,937,740
 234,700,085 227,503,580

26. operating leases

non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

less than one year 49,585,286 63,331,197
betWeen one and five years 140,964,814 192,939,598
more than five years 20,312,493 44,462,720

the above outstanding rentals are based on interest rates as of 
december 31, 2008 (respectively as of december 31, 2007).

the present value of minimum lease payments related to air-
craft operating leases amounted to us$ 185.2 million (2007: 
us$ 269.4 million) at the balance sheet date. this present va-
lue was calculated using actual rental terms and a discount 
factor equal to libor rates at december 31.

the decrease is mainly linked to the classification of lx-mCv as 
finance lease following the notice given by the group to exer-
cise the option to purchase this aircraft at the end of the lease.

27. capital commitments

as at the balance sheet date, the group had firm purchase or-
ders for 13 b747-8 aircraft (2007: 13 b747-8 aircraft) to be 
delivered from 2010 to 2014. in addition, the group has firm 
purchase orders for 4 genx engines (2007: 4 genx engines) 
to be delivered from 2010 to 2015. based on prices published 
by manufacturers the total amount of the above investments 
is close to us$ 4 billion. boeing has announced a delay in its 
delivery schedule of the b747-8 aircraft with the first airplane 
deliveries to occur now only in the third quarter of 2010 ins-
tead of september 2009. all aircraft and engines deliveries 
are subject to further change.

in addition the group holds options to purchase two further 
b747-8 aircraft with delivery slots in 2014 and 2015, respec-
tively (exact delivery dates to be confirmed).

in connection with aircraft and engine purchases, the group 
routinely makes down payments to manufacturers. such ad-
vance payments are recorded under Other property, plant and 
equipment or Deposits with third parties.

28. contingencies

legal proceedings
the group is party to legal proceedings, both as defendant 
and claimant, from time to time in the normal course of its bu-
siness. in addition, the group is subject to investigations and 
proceedings from anti-trust authorities in the eu, us, austra-
lia, new zealand, south africa, south Korea and switzerland in 
connection with a worldwide investigation of air cargo carriers 
regarding alleged price fixing practices and the exchange of 
confidential information. the group is responding to requests 
for information submitted by the authorities.

additionally, civil lawsuits have been launched in the us and in 
Canada against a number of air carriers, including the group. 
the group has constituted a provision of us$ 233,6 million 
(2007: us$ 154.9 million) to cover the group’s exposure with 
respect of the anti-trust proceedings initiated by the eu Com-
mission, the us department of justice, the australian aCCC 
and the Commerce Commission of new zealand against the 
group (see also notes 12 and 24 above). the outcome of the 
anti-trust proceedings and civil lawsuits in other jurisdictions 
cannot be determined with sufficient precision at this point 
in time and therefore, no provision has been recorded in the 
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2008 accounts with respect thereto. if determined against 
the group, the outcome of these proceedings and lawsuits in 
the aggregate could have a material adverse impact on the 
financial condition of the group. 

29. related parties

identity of related parties
the group has a related party relationship with shareholders, 
its subsidiaries, associates and with its directors and execu-
tive officers.

Key management personnel and directors 
in addition to their salaries, the group also provides cash 
(described below) and non-cash benefits (company car and 
fuel card) to members of the executive Committee and 4 
area vice-presidents and contributes (as for other group em-
ployees) to a defined contribution plan and to an accident/
invalidity insurance on their behalf.  

the compensations are as follows:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

salaries and profit sharing 3,143,474 4,332,669
Contribution to pension sCheme 
and aCCident/invalidity insuranCe 664,253 581,865
 3,807,727 4,914,534

these amounts, which are paid in euros, are included in Per-
sonnel costs and benefits (see note 11). the 2007 amount in-
cludes a one-off payment to an executive Committee member 
who left the group.

directors are given an annual fee for their supervisory work on 
behalf of the group. in addition board members who sit on the 
Compensation Committee, the audit Committee or the strate-
gy Committee of the board are paid attendance fees. the total 
remuneration of directors was as follows:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

direCtors 447,869 380,379

shareholders
  the group pays handling fees and other service charges 

to a shareholder in luxembourg. the amount charged to 
operations for such services was us$ 69.3 million (2007: 
us$ 76.0 million). 

  interest and commissions of approximately us$ 1.3 mil-
lion (2007: us$ 1.6 million) were paid in 2008 and us$ 0.1 
million (2007: us$ 1.8 million) of investment income was 
received in 2008 from banks which are shareholders. 

  the group receives freight and maintenance revenues 
from a shareholder. the amount invoiced was approxima-
tely us$ 0.5 million (2007: us$ 0.8 million).

associates
during the year ended december 31, 2008 the group paid us$ 
28.3 million (2007: us$ 34.0 million) for it services to Champ 
Cargosystems s.a., through-put fees of us$ 1.1 million (2007: 
us$ 1.8 million) to luxfuel s.a. and aircraft rentals of us$ 24.4 
million (2007: us$ 31.7 million) and lease payments of us$ 
4.5 million to subsidiaries of freighter leasing s.a.

year end balances arising from sales purchases and services 
are as follows:

accounts receivable and deposit from related 
parties:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

assoCiates 2,057,575 1,101,567
shareholders 23,560,076 19,029,565
 25,617,651 20,131,132

accounts payable and loan to related parties:

 2008 us$ 2007 us$

assoCiates 3,010,575 6,900
shareholders 47,229,961 40,879,968
 50,240,536 40,886,868
 

30. group entities

subsidiaries

 Country of oWnership interest in %
 inCorporation 2008 2007

Cargolux re s.a. luxembourg 100 100

ifrs finanCial statements
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31. accounting estimates and judgments

Certain critical accounting judgments in applying the group’s 
accounting policies are described below.

finance and operating leases
the group entered into a lease arrangement in relation with 
the hangar it will operate in luxembourg. the lease contains 
3 extension options for incremental 5 year lease periods. this 
option can be exercised for the first time on the 15th anniver-
sary of the lease.

in determining lease classification the group evaluated 
whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
were transferred to the group. specifically, it was not conside-
red as reasonably certain, at the inception of the lease, that 
the group will operate the hangar beyond 15 years. 

based on this judgment, it is concluded that the lease is an 
operating lease.

deferred tax asset
the deferred tax asset is based on the most recent business 
plan available at each balance sheet date.

heavy maintenance checK
the timing of “C” and “d-check” is determined in accordance 
with the group’s maintenance program which is based on 
recommendations of the manufacturer and is approved by 
the civil aviation authorities (daC). the amount provisioned 
is based on prices derived from contractual arrangements 
concluded with providers and are discounted to the balance 
sheet date.

provision 
the recognition of a provision requires that the management 
is in the position to make a reliable estimate of the amount 
of the obligation resulting from past events. When no reliable 
estimate can be made, a contingent liability is disclosed.

residual values
management estimate of residual values is reassessed yearly 
on the basis of the current and future estimated market values 
published by external appraisers and on the basis of observa-
ble transactions. Where appropriate this review may lead to re-
visions to the residual values from the current estimate.

32. subsequent events

following consent proceedings initiated by the aCCC on fe-
bruary 16, 2009, the federal Court of australia ratified the 
settlement reached with the aCCC and pursuant to which the 
group agrees to pay a fine of a$ 5.2 million (us$ 3.3 million) 
for breaching the price fixing provision of the australian trade 
practices act, 1974.

in february the group announced that it has entered into 
a strategic partnership in italy to create Cargolux italia for 
intercontinental all-cargo services from milan’s malpensa 
airport. Cargolux italia has applied for a business license and 
certification with enaC, the italian civil aviation authority. it 
aims to become a fully certified italian all-cargo carrier. start 
of operations is planned as soon as enaC grants the required 
permits. launch date is expected in april 2009.

on april 1, 2009, the board of directors of the group agreed 
to settle the us anti-trust proceeding initiated against the 
group by the us department of justice. the fine payable by 
the group under the related plea agreement is provisioned in 
the group’s 2008 accounts (see notes 12 and 24).
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EuropEan road FEEdEr nEtwork From 
and to LuxEmbourg 

◦  Trucking services out of Cargolux’s online stations
Ad hoc trucking can be arranged upon client’s request, please contact our Cargo services Office for additional information.
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